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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.Financial Statements
Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments — available for sale
Prepaid clinical trial and preclinical study costs
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

Deferred public offering and other financing costs
Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Other accrued liabilities

Accrued interest, current

Convertible notes payable, current (net of discount of $0 and $404 at June 30, 2018 and

December 31, 2017, respectively)

Debt conversion feature liability, current
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value: 10,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017; no shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2018 and December

31,2017

Common stock, $0.00001 par value: 300,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017; 60,652,794 and 35,817,104 shares issued and outstanding at June

30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

June 30,

2018
(Unaudited)

$34,610
107,556
1,499
593
144,258
210

$ 144,468

$ 1,493
2,612

4,105
4,105

1
231,587
(91,078
(147

December 31,

2017

$ 8,988
11,587
887
389
21,851
270

$ 22,121

$ 1,529
2,257
22

3,451
1,398
8,657
8,657

94,339
(80,855
(20

)
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Total stockholders’ equity 140,363 13,464
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $144,468 $ 22,121

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

Revenues

Operating expenses:

Research and development

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense):

Change in fair value of debt conversion feature liability
Amortization of debt discount

Amortization of financing costs

Interest income (expense), net

Total other income (expense), net

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Unrealized (loss) gain on securities

Comprehensive loss

Basic and diluted net loss per common share
Weighted-average shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per
share

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Three Months

Ended

June 30,

2018 2017

$— $—
5,221 3,716
1,704 1,267
6,925 4,983

(6,925) (4,983)

37 571

146 ) (337 )
30 ) 422 )
392 (1 )
253 (189 )
(6,672) (5,172)

(38 ) 2
$(6,710) $(5,170)
$(0.13 ) $(0.21 )

52,767 24,119

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2018 2017

$— $—
8,264 7,243
3,466 2,708
11,730 9,951

(11,730) (9,951 )

1,398 848

404 ) (768 )
(60 ) (520 )
573 @3 )
1,507 443 )
(10,223) (10,394)

127 ) 1
$(10,350) $(10,393)
$0.21 ) $045 )

48,730 23,241
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands, except share amounts)

(Unaudited)
Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive

Shares AmountCapital Deficit Loss Total
Balance at December 31, 2017 35,817,104 $ — $94339 $(80,855 ) $ (20 ) $13,464
Employee stock-based compensation (22,341 ) — 1,142 — — 1,142
Issuance of common stock under employee
stock plans 235,865 — 313 — — 313
Issuance of common stock from warrant
exercises 3,347,346 — 4,826 — — 4,826
Sale of common stock, net of issuance
costs 21,275,000 1 130,967 — — 130,968
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments — —  — — (127 ) (127 )
Net loss — —  — (10,223 ) — (10,223 )
Balance at June 30, 2018 60,652,974 $ 1 $231,587 $91,078 ) $ (147 ) $140,363
3
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating

activities
Amortization of debt discount on notes payable
Amortization of investment premiums
Amortization of financing costs
Amortization of non-cash clinical trial costs
Change in fair value of debt conversion feature liability
Stock-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from maturities of investments
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuances of common stock, net of underwriting discounts and commissions
Public offering and financing costs
Repayment of convertible notes payable
Value of shares withheld related to employee tax withholding
Proceeds from warrant and option exercises and stock issuance under employee stock
purchase plan
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing

Six Months Ended June
30,
2018 2017

$(10,223 ) $(10,394)

404 768

149 49

60 520

477 400
(1,398 ) (848 )
1,241 743
(1,396 ) 54

€ ) 57

116 1,169

(10,573 ) (7,482 )

(113,707) (10,426)
17,455 11,700
(96,252 ) 1,274

131,402 6,582
(266 ) (62 )
(3.833 ) —

99 ) (14 )

5,243 20
132,447 6,526
25,622 318
8,988 3,076

$34,610  $3,394

$81 $—
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transactions
Shares issued to cover future clinical trial costs
Unpaid deferred public offering and other financing costs
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

$—
$309

$1,800
$148

10
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Viking Therapeutics, Inc.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Organization, Liquidity and Management’s Plan, and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company

Viking Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company
focused on the development of novel therapies for metabolic and endocrine disorders.

The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on September 24, 2012 and its principal
executive offices are located in San Diego, California.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The accompanying balance sheet as of June 30, 2018, statements
of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 and statements of cash flows for the six
months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 are unaudited. These unaudited financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim
financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for
complete financial statements. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial
statements and the accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2017 contained in the Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed by the Company with the SEC on March 7, 2018. The unaudited interim financial statements have
been prepared on the same basis as the annual financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all
adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to state fairly the Company’s financial position as
of June 30, 2018, the results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 and cash flows
for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. The December 31, 2017 balance sheet included herein was derived
from the audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures or notes required by GAAP for complete
financial statements.

The financial data and other information disclosed in these notes to the financial statements related to the three and six
months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 are unaudited. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for an
entire year.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements. Significant estimates made in
preparing these financial statements relate to determining the fair value of the debt conversion feature liability,

through May 21, 2018, and accounting for certain commitments. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

11
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Adopted Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes all existing revenue recognition requirements, including most
industry-specific guidance. The new standard requires a company to recognize revenue when it transfers goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that the company expects to receive for those goods

or services. The FASB has subsequently issued the following amendments to ASU No. 2014-09, which have the same
effective date and transition date of January 1, 2018:

dn August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral
of the Effective Date, which delayed the effective date of the new standard from January 1, 2017 to January 1, 2018.
The FASB also agreed to allow entities to choose to adopt the standard as of the original effective date.

dn March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal

versus Agent Considerations, which clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations.
5
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dn April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying
Performance Obligations and Licensing, which clarifies certain aspects of identifying performance obligations and
licensing implementation guidance.

. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606):
Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients, which relates to disclosures of remaining
performance obligations, as well as other amendments to guidance on collectability, non-cash
consideration and the presentation of sales and other similar taxes collected from customers.

dn December 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-20, Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which amends certain narrow aspects of the guidance issued in ASU No.
2014-09 including guidance related to the disclosure of remaining performance obligations and prior-period
performance obligations, as well as other amendments to the guidance on loan guarantee fees, contract costs, refund
liabilities, advertising costs and the clarification of certain examples.

The Company evaluated the potential impact that these standards had on its financial position and results of
operations. There is no current impact of this new guidance on its financial statements as the Company does not
currently have any revenue generating arrangements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments
(“ASU 2016-15”), which amends ASC Topic 230 to add or clarify guidance on eight classification issues related to the
statement of cash flows such as debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs, and contingent consideration payments
made after a business combination. ASU 2016-15 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2017
and must be adopted using a retrospective transition method to each period presented but may be applied
prospectively if retrospective application would be impracticable. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in
an interim period. The Company’s adoption of ASU 2016-15 on January 1, 2018 did not have a material effect on its
financial statements and related disclosures.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation — Stock Compensation (“ASU 2017-09”), which
clarifies when changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award must be accounted for as a
modification. Entities will apply the modification accounting guidance if the value, vesting conditions, or
classification of the award changes. The Company’s adoption of ASU 2017-09 on January 1, 2018 did not have a
material effect on its financial statements and related disclosures.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) (“ASU 2018-07"),
which simplifies the accounting for non-employee share-based payment transactions. The new standard expands the
scope of ASC Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from
non-employees. ASU 2018-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 (including interim
periods within that fiscal year), with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted the new standard in the second
quarter of 2018 and determined that the application of the new standard did not have a material effect on its financial
statements and related disclosures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

13
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which amends the
existing accounting standards for leases. The new standard requires lessees to record a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet (with the exception of short-term leases). For lessees, leases will
continue to be classified as either operating or financing in the statement of operations. This ASU becomes effective
for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal year 2019 and early adoption is permitted. ASU 2016-02 is required to be
applied with a modified retrospective approach and requires application of the new standard at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented. The Company does not expect the adoption of ASU 2016-02 to have a material
effect on its financial statements and related disclosures.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU
2016-13”), which requires that financial assets measured at amortized cost be presented at the net amount expected to
be collected. Currently, GAAP delays recognition of the full amount of credit losses until the loss is probable of
occurring. Under this new standard, the statement of operations will reflect an entity’s current estimate of all expected
credit losses. The measurement of expected credit losses will be based upon historical experience, current conditions,
and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. Credit losses relating to
available-for-sale debt securities will be recorded through an allowance for credit losses rather than as a direct
write-down to the security. The new standard is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted as of the fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is evaluating
the effect that ASU 2016-13 will have on its financial statements and related disclosures.

6
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In July 2017, the FASB issued a two-part ASU No. 2017-11, I. Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Down Round Features and II. Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial
Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope
Exception (“ASU 2017-117). ASU 2017-11 amends guidance in FASB ASC Topic 260: Earnings Per Share, FASB ASC
Topic 480: Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and FASB ASC Topic 815: Derivatives and Hedging. The
amendments in Part I of ASU 2017-11 change the classification analysis of certain equity-linked financial instruments
(or embedded features) with down round features. The amendments in Part I of ASU 2017-11 re-characterize the
indefinite deferral of certain provisions of FASB ASC Topic 480 that now are presented as pending content in the
ASC, to a scope exception. ASU 2017-11 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the
effect that ASU 2017-11 will have on its financial statements and related disclosures.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase
to be cash equivalents.

Investments Available-for-Sale

Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses reported in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts to maturity. The amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts is included in interest
income. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary, if any, on
available-for-sale securities are included in other income (expense). The cost of securities sold is based on the specific
identification method. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in interest
income.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents and marketable securities. The Company maintains deposits in federally insured depository
institutions in excess of federally insured limits. Management believes that the Company is not exposed to significant
credit risk due to the financial position of the depository institutions in which those deposits are held. Additionally, the
Company has established guidelines regarding approved investments and maturities of investments, which are
designed to maintain safety and liquidity.

Prepaid Clinical Trial and Preclinical Study Costs

Prepaid clinical trial and preclinical study costs represent advance payments by the Company for future clinical trial
and preclinical study services to be performed by the clinical research organization and other research
organizations. Such amounts are recognized as research and development expense as the related clinical trial and
preclinical study services are performed.

Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs represent legal, accounting and other direct costs related to the Company’s efforts to raise
capital through a public or private sale of the Company’s common stock. Costs related to public sales of the Company’s

common stock are deferred until the completion of the applicable offering, at which time such costs are reclassified to
additional paid-in-capital as a reduction of the proceeds. Costs related to private sales of the Company’s common

15
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stock are deferred until the completion of the applicable offering, at which time such costs are amortized over the term
of the applicable purchase agreement.

Revenue Recognition

The Company has not recorded any revenues since its inception. However, in the future, the Company may enter into
collaborative research and licensing agreements, under which the Company could be eligible for payments made in
the form of upfront license fees, research funding, cost reimbursement, contingent event-based payments and/or
royalties.

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers and all related
amendments ("ASC 606" or "the new revenue standard"). ASC 606 is a single comprehensive model for entities to use
in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition
guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The new revenue standard is based on the principle that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve this core
principle, ASC 606 provides that an entity should apply the following steps: (1) identify the contract(s)

7
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with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price,

(4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract and (5) recognize revenue when (or as)
the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The new revenue standard also requires additional disclosure about the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, and costs to obtain
or fulfill contracts. The Company will apply ASC 606 prospectively to all contracts.

Research and Development Expenses

All costs of research and development are expensed in the period incurred. Research and development costs primarily
consist of fees paid to contract research organizations (“CROs”) and clinical trial sites, employee and consultant related
expenses, which include salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation for research and development personnel,
external research and development expenses incurred pursuant to agreements with third-party manufacturing
organizations, facilities costs, travel costs, dues and subscriptions, depreciation and materials used in preclinical
studies, clinical trials and research and development.

The Company estimates its preclinical study and clinical trial expenses based on the services it received pursuant to
contracts with research institutions and CROs that conduct and manage preclinical studies and clinical trials on the
Company’s behalf. Clinical trial-related contracts vary significantly in length, and may be for a fixed amount, based on
milestones or deliverables, a variable amount based on actual costs incurred, capped at a certain limit, or for a
combination of these elements. The Company accrues service fees based on work performed, which relies on
estimates of total costs incurred based on milestones achieved, patient enrollment and other events. The majority of
the Company’s service providers invoice the Company in arrears, and to the extent that amounts invoiced differ from
its estimates of expenses incurred, the Company accrues for additional costs. The financial terms of these agreements
vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven expenses and payment flows. Preclinical study and clinical
trial expenses include:

fees paid to CROs, consultants and laboratories in connection with preclinical studies;

fees paid to CROs, clinical trial sites, investigators and consultants in connection with clinical trials; and

fees paid to contract manufacturers and service providers in connection with the production, testing and packaging of

active pharmaceutical ingredients and drug materials for preclinical studies and clinical trials.
Payments under some of these agreements depend on factors such as the milestones accomplished, including
enrollment of certain numbers of patients, site initiation and the completion of clinical trial milestones. To date, the
Company has not experienced any events requiring it to make material adjustments to its accruals for service fees. If
the Company does not identify costs that it has begun to incur or if it underestimates or overestimates the level of
services performed or the costs of these services, its actual expenses could differ from its estimates which could
materially affect its results of operations. Adjustments to the Company’s accruals are recorded as changes in estimates
become evident. Furthermore, based on amounts invoiced to the Company by its service providers, the Company may
also record payments made to those providers as prepaid expenses that will be recognized as expense in future periods
as services are rendered.

In May 2014, the Company entered into the Master License Agreement, pursuant to which it acquired certain rights to

a number of research and development programs from Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“Ligand”). In doing so, the
Company updated its policy on research and development to include the purchase of rights to intangible assets. In
accordance with ASC Topic 730, Research and Development, intangible assets that are acquired and have an

alternative future use, as defined, should be capitalized and reported as an intangible asset; however, the cost of
acquired intangible assets that do not have alternative future uses should be reported as research and development
expense as incurred. The Company notes that intangible assets acquired that are in the preclinical or clinical stages of
development when acquired, and not approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, are deemed to have not
satisfied the definition of having an alternative future use, as defined. Accordingly, assets acquired in the preclinical

and clinical stages of development are expensed as incurred in the Company’s statement of operations.

17



Edgar Filing: Viking Therapeutics, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Patent Costs

Costs related to filing and pursuing patent applications are expensed as incurred to general and administrative
expense, as recoverability of such expenditures is uncertain.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company generally uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation cost to reporting periods over each
optionee’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period, and estimates the fair value of stock-based
awards or restricted stock units to employees and directors using the Black-Scholes option-valuation model. The
Black-Scholes model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including volatility, the expected term and the fair
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, among other inputs. For restricted stock and restricted
stock unit awards, the Company generally uses the straight-line method to allocate

8
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compensation cost to reporting periods over the holder’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period,
and uses the fair value at grant date to value the awards. For restricted stock that vests upon the satisfaction of certain
performance conditions, the Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense when it becomes probable that
the performance conditions will be met. At the point that it becomes probable that the performance conditions will be
met, the Company records a cumulative catch-up of the expense from the grant date to the current date, and the
Company then amortizes the remainder of the expense over the remaining service period.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for its income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on temporary differences between the basis used for financial reporting and income tax reporting
purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided based on the enacted tax rates in effect at the time such temporary
differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than
not that the Company will not realize those tax assets through future operations.

ASC Topic 740-10, Income Taxes, clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the
Company’s financial statements in accordance with GAAP. Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold to be recognized. Income tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not
threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously
recognized tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold are derecognized in the first
subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component
of income tax expense.

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock
equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the
treasury-stock method. For purposes of this calculation, the Company currently does not have any deemed common
share equivalents; therefore, its basic and diluted net loss per share calculations are the same.

The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share (in thousands, except
share and per share data):

Three Months Ended June

30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2018 2017 2018 2017
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $(6,672 ) $(5,172 ) $(10,223 ) $(10,394 )
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 52,973,371 24,387,148 48,955,952 23,528,353
Less: Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase (206,260 ) (268,261 ) (225,571 ) (287,571 )
Denominator for basic net loss per share 52,767,111 24,118,887 48,730,381 23,240,782

Net loss per share:
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)
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Potentially dilutive securities that are not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect is
anti-dilutive are as follows (in common equivalent shares):

As of June 30,

2018 2017
Common stock warrants 7,855,190 12,479,837
Restricted stock units 123,625 56,750
Common stock subject to repurchase 183,095 245,096
Common stock options 1,924,151 1,594,894
Shares issuable upon conversion of debt — 3,597,271

10,086,061 17,973,848

Segments

The Company operates in only one segment. Management uses cash flows as the primary measure to manage its
business and does not segment its business for internal reporting or decision making purposes.

2. Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company’s investment strategy is focused on capital preservation. The Company invests in instruments that meet
the credit quality standards outlined in the Company’s investment policy. This policy also limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one issue or type of instrument. As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company’s
investments were in government money market funds, certificates of deposit and corporate debt securities. There were
no sales of available-for-sale securities during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 or during the year ended
December 31, 2017.

Investments classified as available-for-sale as of June 30, 2018 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross Aggregate
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

As of June 30, 2018 Cost Gains (U Losses (D Fair Value
Corporate debt securities @ $107,701 $ —$ (145 ) $107,556

(1)Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included as a component of comprehensive loss. At
June 30, 2018, there were no securities in an unrealized gain position and there were 117 securities in an unrealized
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loss position. These unrealized losses were less than $7,000 individually and $145,000 in the aggregate. These
securities have not been in a continuous unrealized gain or loss position for more than 12 months. The Company
does not intend to sell these investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell
these investments before recovery of their amortized cost basis, which may be at maturity. The Company reviews
its investments to identify and evaluate investments that have an indication of possible other-than-temporary
impairment. Factors considered in determining whether a loss is other-than-temporary include the length of time
and extent to which fair value has been less than the cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of
the investee, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for
any anticipated recovery in market value.

(2) At June 30, 2018, none of these securities were classified as cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s balance
sheet and none of these securities were scheduled to mature outside of one year.
10
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Investments classified as available-for-sale as of December 31, 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross Aggregate

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

As of December 31, 2017 Cost Gains (D Losses (D Fair Value
Certificates of deposit @ $ 249 $ —%$ — $ 249
Corporate debt securities @ 11,357 — (19 ) 11,338
$11,606 $ —$ (19 ) $11,587
€)) Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are included as a component of

comprehensive loss. At December 31, 2017, there were 29 securities in an unrealized loss position.
These unrealized losses were less than $3,000 individually and $19,000 in the aggregate. These
securities have not been in a continuous unrealized loss position for more than 12 months. The
Company does not intend to sell these investments and it is not more likely than not that the Company
will be required to sell these investments before recovery of their amortized cost basis, which may be at
maturity. The Company reviews its investments to identify and evaluate investments that have an
indication of possible other-than-temporary impairment. Factors considered in determining whether a
loss is other-than-temporary include the length of time and extent to which fair value has been less than
the cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, and the Company’s intent
and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in
market value.

(2) At December 31, 2017, none of these securities were classified as cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s
balance sheet and none of these securities were scheduled to mature outside of one year.

3. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments and accounts payable and,
through May 21, 2018, debt and its related debt conversion feature liability. The carrying amounts reported in the
accompanying balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable approximate fair value because of
the short-term maturity of those instruments. Further, the Company believes the fair value of the debt approximates its
carrying value based on relatively stable interest rates and short-term maturity of this instrument. Fair value
measurements are classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1 —Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 —Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar

assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
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Level 3 —Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

As of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, all of the Company’s financial assets that were subject to fair value
measurements were valued using observable inputs. The Company’s financial assets valued based on Level 1 inputs
consist of money market funds and certificates of deposit. The Company’s financial assets valued based on Level 2
inputs consist of corporate debt securities, which consist of investments in highly-rated investment-grade corporations.

The Company’s financial liability that was subject to fair value measurement consisted of a debt conversion feature
that has been recorded as a liability based on Level 3 unobservable inputs as of December 31, 2017. There was no
similar financial liability as of June 30, 2018.

The fair value of the debt conversion feature, current as of December 31, 2017 required management to estimate fair
value based on the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model. The Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model
was adopted as a result of the Company’s entry in January 2016 into the second amendment to the Loan and Security
Agreement with Ligand (the “Loan and Security Agreement”), which amended the conversion terms of the Secured
Convertible Promissory Note (“Ligand Note”) issued pursuant to the Loan and Security Agreement.

The debt conversion feature embedded in each tranche of the Ligand Note was accounted for under ASC Topic 815 —
Derivatives and Hedging. At each issuance date, the fair value of the debt conversion feature was determined. The fair

value of the debt conversion

11
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feature was allocated from the gross proceeds of the Ligand Note with the respective discount amortized to interest
expense over the original term of the Ligand Note using the effective interest method. The Company was required to
mark to market the value of the conversion feature liability; however, on May 21, 2018, the Company paid in cash the
remaining debt balance of the Ligand Note.

The Company’s investment strategy is focused on capital preservation. The Company invests in instruments that meet
the credit quality standards outlined in the Company’s investment policy. This policy also limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one issue or type of instrument. As of June 30, 2018, the Company’s investments were in government
money market funds, certificates of deposit and corporate debt securities.

The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are presented below (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements
at June 30, 2018
Level
Total Levell Level2 3

Financial assets carried at fair value:
Cash equivalents:
Government money market funds $25,857 $25.857 $— S —
Corporate debt securities, available-for-sale 10,232 — 10,232 —
Short-term investments
Corporate debt securities, available-for-sale 107,556 — 107,556 —
Total financial assets $143,645 $25,857 $117,788 $ —

Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2017

Level Level

Total 1 Level2 3
Financial assets carried at fair value:
Cash equivalents:
Government money market funds $6,361 $6,361 $— $—
Corporate debt securities, available-for-sale 1,244 — 1,244 —
Short-term investments
Certificates of deposit, available-for-sale 249 — 249 —
Corporate debt securities, available-for-sale 11,338 — 11,338 —
Total financial assets $19,192 $6,361 $12,831 $—
Financial liabilities carried at fair value:
Debt conversion feature - current $1,398 $— $— $1,398
Total financial liabilities $1,398 $— $— $1,398

The table below presents a summary of changes in the Company’s debt conversion feature liability measured at fair
value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the three and six months ended June 30,
2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

Three Months
Ended June Six Months
30, Ended June 30,
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2018 2017 2018 2017
Debt conversion feature:

Beginning balance $37 $454  $1,398 $731
Adjustments resulting from modification of debt — 1,011 — $1,011
Adjustments resulting from changes in fair value recognized in earnings 37) (571 ) (1,398) (848 )
Ending balance $— $894 §— $894
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The following table sets forth the Company’s valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used to
determine fair value for significant Level 3 liabilities (in thousands, except for volatility and risk free rate):

Fair Value Significant
Unobservable
Asselsiabilities Valuation Technique(s) Input %

Debt conversion feature

liability
December 31, 2017 $—$ 1,398 Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model Volatility 100%
Risk Free
Rate 1.46%

Level 3 Fair Value Sensitivity
Debt Conversion Feature Liability
As of December 31, 2017, the fair value of the debt conversion feature liability includes the estimated volatility and

risk free rate. The higher/lower the estimated volatility, the higher/lower the value of the debt conversion feature
liability. The higher/lower the risk free interest rate, the higher/lower the value of the debt conversion feature liability.

4.Convertible Notes Payable
Convertible notes payable consisted of the following (in thousands):

June December

30, 31,

2018 2017
Current maturities:
Convertible note payable issued during 2014 to Ligand pursuant to the Master License Agreement
with a 5% annual interest rate, due during 2016 (amended in January 2016 to a 2.5% annual interest
rate with maturity extended to 2017, and subsequently amended in May 2017 with maturity
extended to May 21, 2018) $ —$1917
Conversion payoff value — 1,938
Discount on notes payable, current — 404 )
Convertible notes payable, current (net of discount) $ — $3,451

Pursuant to the Loan and Security Agreement, among other things, Ligand provided the Company with loans in the
aggregate amount of $2.5 million. Up until January 21, 2016, the principal amount outstanding under the loans
accrued interest at a fixed per annum rate equal to the lesser of 5.0% or the maximum interest rate permitted by law.
Effective as of January 22, 2016, the principal amount outstanding under the loans accrue interest at a fixed per annum
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rate equal to the lesser of 2.5% or the maximum interest rate permitted by law. In the event the Company defaults
under the loans, the loans will accrue interest at a fixed per annum rate equal to the lesser of 8% or the maximum
interest rate permitted by law. The loans are evidenced by the Ligand Note. Pursuant to the terms of the Loan and
Security Agreement and the Ligand Note, the loans will become due and payable upon the written demand of Ligand
at any time after the earlier to occur of an event of default under the Loan and Security Agreement or the Ligand Note,
or May 21, 2018, unless the loans are repaid in cash or converted into equity prior to such time. In addition, under the
Loan and Security Agreement, the Company may not declare or pay dividends in respect of its common stock without
Ligand’s prior written consent.

On May 8, 2017, the Company entered into the Third Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement (the “Third
Loan Amendment”), which: (1) extended the maturity date of the Loans from May 21, 2017 to May 21, 2018, and (2)
provided that the Company was required to repay $200,000 of the Ligand Note in the third quarter of 2017, which
payment had to be made solely in cash (the “Required Repayment”). The Company made the Required Repayment on
July 13, 2017. The Required Repayment was applied, first, to accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans and, second, to
the unpaid principal amount of the Loans. Each $1.00 of value of the Required Repayment reduced the amount of
accrued and unpaid interest and then unpaid principal amount on the Loans by $0.50. As a result of the Third Loan
Amendment, the Company recorded a debt modification adjustment of $1.0 million to the debt conversion feature
liability primarily due to the longer expected term, offset with an adjustment recorded to the Ligand Note discount.

13

28



Edgar Filing: Viking Therapeutics, Inc. - Form 10-Q

In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, the Company also granted Ligand a continuing security interest
in all of its right, title and interest in and to its assets as collateral for the full, prompt, complete and final payment and
performance when due of all obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement and the Ligand Note.

On May 21, 2018, the Company repaid the entire remaining balance of $3.9 million due on the Ligand Note in
cash. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company recorded $14,000 and $38,000 of interest
expense, respectively, $146,000 and $404,000 of amortization of debt discount, respectively, and $37,000 and $1.4
million as other income related to the decrease in the fair value of the debt conversion feature liability, respectively.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company recorded $24,000 and $49,000 of interest
expense, respectively, $337,000 and $768,000 of amortization of debt discount, respectively, and $571,000 and
$848,000 as other income related to the decrease in the fair value of the debt conversion feature liability,
respectively.

5. Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.00001 par value per share, with no
shares outstanding as of June 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The Board of Directors is authorized to designate the
terms and conditions of any preferred stock the Company may issue without further action by the stockholders of the

Company.

Common Stock
The Company is authorized to issue up to 300,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.00001 par value per share.

In February 2014, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with one of its founders. The agreement
provided for the purchase of 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price per share of $0.01 in
exchange for future services to be rendered to the Company as measured by certain performance criteria. The shares
were subject to a repurchase option and were to vest in two tranches of 500,000 shares each, upon achievement of the
performance target or upon a triggering event as defined.

The Company determined that the fair value of the unrecognized expense was $168,000 at February 20, 2014, the
grant date. In May 2015, the Company repurchased 633,810 of these shares at a purchase price of $0.00001 per share.
In connection with the repurchase, the Company entered into an amendment to the stock purchase agreement to
provide that the remaining 366,190 shares will continue to vest in two tranches of 183,095 shares each, upon
achievement of the performance target or upon a triggering event as defined. The pro rata grant date fair value of the
unrecognized expense is $62,000. In October 2015, a triggering event became probable of occurrence and was
deemed achieved in October 2016; therefore, the Company recorded $31,000 of stock-based compensation expense
through December 31, 2016. No similar expense was recognized during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018
and 2017. The Company will continue to reassess at each reporting period whether it is probable that the performance
target will be achieved, and if and when it is deemed probable, the Company will begin to record compensation
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expense using the fair value to determine stock-based compensation expense in its financial statements over the period
the Company estimates the performance target will actually be achieved.

On June 20, 2016, the Company entered into the Equity Distribution Agreement (the “Distribution Agreement”) with
Maxim Group LLC (“Maxim”) pursuant to which the Company was able to offer and sell, from time to time, through
Maxim up to 3,748,726 shares of its common stock (the “Maxim Offering”). Effective July 26, 2017, the Distribution
Agreement terminated automatically in accordance with the terms thereof. All shares of common stock offered and
sold in the Maxim Offering were issued pursuant to the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333-212134) filed with the SEC on June 20, 2016, as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto filed with the SEC on
July 26, 2016, and declared effective on July 26, 2016 (the “Shelf Registration Statement”) and the prospectus relating
to the Maxim Offering that forms a part of the registration statement on Form S-3. The registration statement on Form
S-3 was declared effective by the SEC on July 26, 2016. From the inception of the Distribution Agreement through
July 26, 2017, the Company sold 1,267,237 shares of its common stock under the Distribution Agreement resulting in
net proceeds to the Company of $1.6 million, after deducting the sales agent’s commission.

On August 24, 2016, the Company entered into a common stock purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”),
pursuant to which Aspire Capital Fund, LLC (“Aspire Capital”’) was committed to purchase up to an aggregate of $12.5
million of shares of the Company’s common stock over the 30-month term of the Purchase Agreement. Upon
execution of the Purchase Agreement, the Company issued and sold 333,333 shares of common stock (the “Initial
Shares”) at a price per share of $1.50, for an aggregate purchase price of $500,000 to Aspire Capital under the Purchase
Agreement. Concurrently with the execution of the Purchase Agreement, and as consideration for Aspire Capital
entering into the Purchase Agreement, the Company issued 336,116 shares of common stock as a commitment fee (the
“Commitment Shares”) to Aspire Capital with a fair value of $440,000, which has been recorded as deferred financing
costs, with a prorated portion charged to additional paid-in-capital for the Initial Shares, with the
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remainder of the costs amortized over the term of the Purchase Agreement as there was no guarantee that additional
shares would be sold under the Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the Company
was able to, from time to time and subject to certain limitations, direct Aspire Capital to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock using pricing formulas based on average prevailing market prices around the time of each
sale. Additionally, the Company and Aspire may not effect any sales of shares of the Company's common stock under
the Purchase Agreement during the continuance of an event of default or on any trading day that the closing sale price
of its common stock is less than $0.40 per share (subject to adjustment for stock dividends, splits, combinations or
similar transactions or events). Effective June 19, 2017, the Company terminated the Purchase Agreement, resulting
in a write off of the remaining capitalized deferred financing costs relating to the Purchase Agreement of

$337,000. From the inception of the Purchase Agreement through June 19, 2017, the Company sold 1,476,991 shares
of its common stock under the Purchase Agreement resulting in aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of $2.0
million, in addition to the Initial Shares and the Commitment Shares.

On February 8, 2017, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with PoC Capital, LLC
(“PoC”), pursuant to which, among other things, the Company issued to PoC 1,286,173 shares of its common

stock. Under the terms of the SPA, PoC has agreed to fund $1.8 million in study costs associated with certain clinical
studies, including a planned proof-of-concept trial in patients with Glycogen Storage Disease type la. Any study costs
in excess of that amount will be the Company’s sole responsibility. The Company has accounted for the $1.8 million
as a prepaid expense on the balance sheet. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, the Company
recorded amortization expense of $252,000 and $477,000, respectively, in clinical study costs related to the SPA with
PoC. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company recorded amortization expense of $357,000
and $400,000, respectively. The remaining prepaid balance of $329,000 was recorded on the balance sheet as of June
30, 2018.

On June 14, 2017, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”)
with certain accredited investors (the “Purchasers”) pursuant to which the Company sold an aggregate of 3,749,783
shares (the “Shares”) of its common stock in a registered direct offering (the “Registered Direct Offering”). The Shares
were offered by the Company pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement. In a concurrent private placement, the
Company also agreed, pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, to issue and sell to each of the Purchasers a
warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of common stock (the “Warrants™) for each share of common stock purchased by a
Purchaser in the Registered Direct Offering (the “Private Placement” and, together with the Registered Direct Offering,
the “Offerings”). The exercise price of the Warrants is $1.30 per share, subject to adjustment as provided therein, and
will be exercisable beginning on December 19, 2017 through December 19, 2022. The combined purchase price for
one Share and one Warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of common stock in the Offerings was $1.15. The closing of the
Offerings occurred on June 19, 2017. The aggregate net proceeds from the Offerings, after deducting the placement
agents’ fees and offering expenses, were $3.9 million.

On September 28, 2017, the Company entered into a purchase agreement (the “Registered Offering Purchase
Agreement”) pursuant to which, on September 29, 2017, the Company sold to Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (“LPC”)
701,282 shares of common stock (the “LPC Initial Shares™) at a price of approximately $1.78 per share for an aggregate
purchase price of $1.3 million, pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement and the prospectus supplement thereto
dated September 28, 2017.

On September 28, 2017, the Company also entered a purchase agreement (the “Commitment Purchase Agreement”) and
a registration rights agreement (the ‘“Registration Rights Agreement”) with LPC, pursuant to which the Company has the
right to sell to LPC up to $15.0 million in shares of common stock, subject to certain limitations and conditions set

forth in the Commitment Purchase Agreement. Upon the satisfaction of the conditions in the Commitment Purchase
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Agreement (the “Commencement”) the Company will have the right, from time to time at its sole discretion over the
30-month period from and after the Commencement, to direct LPC to purchase up to 75,000 shares of common stock
on any business day (subject to certain limitations contained in the Commitment Purchase Agreement), with such
amounts increasing based on certain threshold prices set forth in the Commitment Purchase Agreement; however, not
to exceed $1.0 million in total purchase proceeds per purchase date. The purchase price of shares of common stock
that the Company elects to sell to LPC pursuant to the Commitment Purchase Agreement will be based on the market
prices of the common stock at the time of such purchases as set forth in the Commitment Purchase Agreement. In
addition to regular purchases, as described above, the Company may also direct LPC to purchase additional amounts
as accelerated purchases or as additional purchases if the closing sale price of the common stock is not below certain
threshold prices, as set forth in the Commitment Purchase Agreement. In all instances, the Company may not sell
shares of its common stock to LPC under the Commitment Purchase Agreement if it would result in LPC beneficially
owning more than 4.99% of the Common Stock. As consideration for LPC’s commitment to purchase shares of
common stock pursuant to the Commitment Purchase Agreement, the Company issued to LPC 100,000 shares of
common stock (the “LPC Commitment Shares”). From inception of the Commitment Purchase Agreement through
December 31, 2017, 343,051 shares were issued pursuant to the Commitment Purchase Agreement resulting in
aggregate gross proceeds of $802,000 in addition to the LPC Initial Shares and the LPC Commitment Shares. No
additional shares were issued during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018.

On December 11, 2017, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 5,900,000 shares of its common stock,
including 769,565 shares sold pursuant to the underwriters’ full exercise of their option to purchase additional shares to
cover over-allotments,
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pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement at a public offering price of $2.50 per share, for total net proceeds of
$13.4 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses.

On February 6, 2018, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of common stock pursuant to the Shelf
Registration Statement (the “February 2018 Offering”). In the February 2018 Offering, the Company sold 12,650,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at a public offering price of $5.00 per share of common stock. Upon the
closing of the February 2018 Offering on February 6, 2018, the Company received net proceeds of $58.7 million, after
deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses.

On June 11, 2018, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of common stock (the “June 2018 Offering”)
pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement and a registration statement on Form S-3MEF (File No. 333-225479)

filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. In the June 2018 Offering, the Company sold
8,625,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a public offering price of $9.00 per share of common stock. Upon
the closing of the June 2018 Offering on June 11, 2018, the Company received net proceeds of $72.3 million, after
deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses.

During the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, and in accordance with the Company’s 2014 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), the Company issued an aggregate of 72,597 and 19,887 shares of its common stock to
certain employees, respectively.

6. Stock-Based Compensation

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering of common stock (the “IPO”), the Company’s 2014 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) and the ESPP became effective on April 28, 2015, the date of the execution and
delivery of the underwriting agreement for the IPO. A total of 1,527,770 shares of the Company’s common stock were
initially reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan, and 458,331 shares of the Company’s common stock were initially
reserved for issuance under the ESPP. From January 1, 2016 and through June 30, 2018, in accordance with the terms
of the 2014 Plan, an additional 2,321,363 shares of the Company’s common stock were added to the number of shares
available for issuance under the 2014 Plan, respectively, and, in accordance with the terms of the ESPP, an additional
663,246 shares of the Company’s common stock were added to the number of shares available for issuance under the
ESPP, respectively.

The Company generally uses the straight-line method to allocate compensation cost to reporting periods over each
optionee’s requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period, and estimates the fair value of stock-based
awards or restricted stock units to employees and directors using the Black-Scholes option-valuation model. The
Black-Scholes model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including volatility, the expected term and the fair
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, among other inputs. Stock options granted to
non-employees are accounted for using the fair value approach. Stock options granted to non-employees are subject to
periodic revaluation over their vesting terms.

2014 Plan. The 2014 Plan provides that the compensation committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the
“Compensation Committee””) may grant or issue stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted
stock units and unrestricted shares, deferred share units, performance and cash-settled awards and dividend equivalent
rights to participants under the 2014 Plan. Initially, a total of 1,527,770 shares of the Company’s common stock were
reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2014 Plan, which number is also the limit on shares of common stock available

33



Edgar Filing: Viking Therapeutics, Inc. - Form 10-Q

for awards of incentive stock options. The number of shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan will, unless
otherwise determined by the Company’s Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, be automatically
increased on January 1st of each year commencing on January 1, 2016 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2024,
in an amount equal to 3.5% of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on

December 31st of the preceding calendar year. The shares of common stock deliverable pursuant to awards under the
2014 Plan are authorized but unissued shares of the Company’s common stock, or shares of the Company’s common
stock that the Company otherwise holds in treasury or in trust. Any shares of the Company’s common stock underlying
awards that are settled in cash or otherwise expire, or are forfeited, terminated or cancelled (including pursuant to an
exchange program established by the Compensation Committee) prior to the issuance of stock will again be available
for issuance under the 2014 Plan. In addition, shares of the Company’s common stock that are withheld (or not issued)
in payment of the exercise price or taxes relating to an award, and shares of the Company’s common stock equal to the
number surrendered in payment of any exercise price or withholding taxes relating to an award, will again be available
for issuance under the 2014 Plan.

ESPP. Initially, a total of 458,331 shares of the Company’s common stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to the
ESPP. The number of shares available for issuance under the ESPP will, unless otherwise determined by the
Company’s Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, be automatically increased on January 1st of each
year commencing on January 1, 2016 and ending on (and including) January 1, 2024, in an amount equal to 1% of the
total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 31st of the preceding calendar year.
The shares of common stock available for purchase pursuant to the ESPP are authorized but unissued shares of the
Company’s common stock, shares of the Company’s common stock that the Company otherwise holds in treasury or
shares of the Company’s common stock that were purchased on the open market in arms’ length transactions in
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accordance with applicable securities laws. Shares of the Company’s common stock will be offered for purchase under
the ESPP as determined by the Compensation Committee through a series of successive offerings that each have a
term of 24 months and consist of four consecutive purchase periods of six months each. Prior to the commencement of
any future offering under the ESPP, the Compensation Committee may determine that the current offering shall end,
may commence a new offering on the first day after the end of such terminal purchase period (or any desired later
date), and may decide that future offerings will consist of one or more consecutive purchase periods, each to be of
such duration as determined by the Compensation Committee; however, no offering will exceed 27 months and no
purchase period will exceed one year. Each employee of the Company who (1) is an employee on the first date of any
offering under the ESPP, (2) is customarily scheduled to work for more than 20 hours per week and more than five
months per calendar year, and (3) meets such other criteria as may be determined by the Compensation Committee
(consistent with Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), is eligible to participate in the ESPP
for each purchase period within such offering. The purchase price per share of the Company’s common stock under the
ESPP may not be less than, and will initially be equal to, the lesser of: (1) 85% of the fair market value per share of
the Company’s common stock on the first day of the offering, or (2) 85% of the fair market value per share of the
Company’s common stock on the date the purchase right is exercised, which will be the last day of the applicable
purchase period.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recognized the following stock-based
compensation expense (in thousands):

Three

Months Six Months
Ended June Ended June
30, 30,

2018 2017 2018 2017
Stock-based compensation expense by type of award:

Stock options $318 $150 $571  $375
Restricted stock and restricted stock units 120 178 324 341
Employee stock purchase plan 192 13 346 27
Total stock-based compensation expense included

in expenses $630 $341 $1,241 $743
Stock-based compensation expense by line item:
Research and development expenses $223 $100 $395 $217
General and administrative expenses 407 241 846 526

Total stock-based compensation expense included

in expenses $630 $341 $1,241 $743

The following table sets forth the Company’s unrecognized stock-based compensation expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, by type of award and the weighted-average period over which that expense is expected to be recognized
(in thousands, except for years):
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As of June 30, 2018
UnrecogiWerthted-

Expense,average
Net of Recognition
EstimatedPeriod

Forfeiturém years)

Type of award:
Stock options $1,994 281
Restricted stock and restricted stock units $478 2.16

The following table is a summary of restricted stock activity during the six months ended June 30, 2018:

Weighted-
Average
Grant
Shares of  Date
Restricted
Stock Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2017 245,096 $ 2.53
Granted — $ —
Vested (62,001 ) $ 9.49
Forfeited — $ —
Unvested at June 30, 2018 183,095 $ 0.17
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The following table summarizes restricted stock unit activity during the six months ended June 30, 2018:

Shares
Subject to
Restricted
Stock
Units

Unvested at December 31, 2017 46,250

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Unvested June 30, 2018

90,000

Weighted-
Average

Grant
Date

Value
$ 5.50
$ 4.65

(12,625 ) $ 8.87

123,625

§ —
$ 4.54

The following table summarizes stock option activity during the six months ended June 30, 2018:

Options outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted

Exercised

Cancelled

Options outstanding at June 30, 2018
Options exercisable at June 30, 2018

Weighted-
Average
Weighted-
Remaining
Average
Shares Contractual
Subjectto  Exercise
Stock Term (in
Options Price years)
1,575,864 $ 2.68
517,500 $ 4.80
(150,463 ) $ 1.59
(18,750 ) $ 191
1,924,151 $ 3.35 8.45
762913 $ 4.02 7.75

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

1,077,000

11,833,000
4,173,000

The Company received $239,000 in cash proceeds from exercises of stock options during the six months ended June
30, 2018. There were no option exercises during the six months ended June 30, 2017.
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Compensation cost for stock options granted to employees is based on the estimated grant date fair value and is
recognized ratably over the vesting period of the applicable option. The estimated per share weighted average fair
value of stock options granted to employees during the six months ended June 30, 2018 was $3.38.

As stock-based compensation expense recognized is based on options ultimately expected to vest, the fair value of
each employee option grant during the six months ended June 30, 2018 was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Six
Months
Ended
June 30,
2018
Expected volatility 81.25 %
Expected term (in years) 6.06
Risk-free interest rate 250 %
Expected dividend yield 0 %

Expected Volatility. The expected volatility rate used to value stock option grants is based on volatilities of a peer
group of similar companies whose share prices are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on
companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry in a similar stage of development to the Company.

Expected Term. The Company elected to utilize the “simplified” method for “plain vanilla” options to value stock option
grants. Under this approach, the weighted-average expected life is presumed to be the average of the vesting term and
the contractual term of the option.

Risk-free Interest Rate. The risk-free interest rate assumption was based on zero-coupon U.S. Treasury instruments
that had terms consistent with the expected term of the Company’s stock option grants.
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Expected Dividend Yield. The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends and does not presently plan to
pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Forfeitures are accounted for as actual forfeitures occur.

Since the Company had a net operating loss carryforward as of June 30, 2018, no excess tax benefits for the tax
deductions related to stock-based awards were recognized in the Statements of Operations.

7. Warrants

Upon the closing of the IPO, on May 4, 2015, the Company issued to the representative of the underwriters as
additional compensation a warrant to purchase an aggregate of 82,500 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
warrant is exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis at a per share exercise price equal to $10.00 commencing on
April 28, 2016, one year following the date of the prospectus filed with the SEC relating to the IPO, and expiring on
April 28, 2020. The warrant also provides for registration rights upon request, under certain circumstances. The
piggyback registration right provided in connection with the warrant will terminate on April 28, 2022.

On April 13, 2016, pursuant to the Offering, the Company sold 7,500,000 shares of its common stock and warrants to
purchase up to 7,500,000 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $1.25 per share of common stock
and related warrant. The warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share of common stock, were immediately
exercisable upon issuance and will expire on April 13, 2021. Additionally, on April 13, 2016, the underwriters for the
Offering partially exercised the over-allotment option for warrants to purchase an additional 1,125,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a public offering price of $0.01 per warrant to purchase a share of common stock. As of
June 30, 2018, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 5,802,295 shares were outstanding and 889,148 and 2,370,404
warrants were exercised during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.

On April 13, 2016, pursuant to the terms of the Loan and Security Agreement, the Company issued to Ligand the
Ligand Warrant to purchase up to 960,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Ligand Warrant has an
exercise price of $1.50 per share of Company common stock, was immediately exercisable upon issuance (subject to a
limitation on exercise to the extent that any exercise thereof would increase Ligand’s beneficial ownership of the
Company’s common stock to greater than 49.9%) and expires on April 13, 2021. The Ligand Warrant was issued to
Ligand as a part of the repayment of $1.2 million of the Company’s obligation under the Ligand Note.

On June 14, 2017, pursuant to the terms of the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Company sold Shares and the
Warrants to purchase up to 2,812,337 shares of its common stock to the Purchasers. The combined purchase price for
one Share and one Warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of common stock in the Offerings, was $1.15. The closing of the
Offerings occurred on June 19, 2017. The Warrants have an exercise price of $1.30 per share, subject to adjustment as
provided therein, and will be exercisable beginning on December 19, 2017 through December 19, 2022. Each holder
of a Warrant will not have the right to exercise any portion of its Warrant if the holder, together with its affiliates,
would beneficially own in excess of 4.99% of the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after
giving effect to such exercise (the “Beneficial Ownership Limitation); provided, however, that upon 61 days’ prior
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notice to the Company, the holder may increase the Beneficial Ownership Limitation; however, in no event shall the
Beneficial Ownership Limitation exceed 9.99%. The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable
upon the exercise of the Warrants will be subject to adjustment in the event of any stock dividends and splits, reverse
stock split, recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction, as described in the Warrants. If a registration
statement covering the issuance or resale of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the Warrants is not
available for the issuance or resale, as applicable, the Purchasers may exercise the Warrants by means of a “cashless
exercise.” On January 16, 2018, the resale registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-222202) that the Company
filed related to the 1,987,337 shares subject to unexercised warrants was declared effective by the SEC. As of June

30, 2018, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 1,010,395 shares were outstanding and 36,500 and 976,942 warrants
were exercised during the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, respectively.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

On July 7, 2015, the Company entered into a Sublease (the “Sublease”) for approximately 7,049 rentable square feet of
space located at 12340 El Camino Real, Suite 250, San Diego, California 92130 (the “Premises”).

Under the Sublease, the Company is responsible for certain charges for common area maintenance and other costs,
and the Sublease provides for abatement of rent during certain periods and escalating rent payments throughout the
term of the Sublease. Rent expense is being recorded on a straight line basis over the life of the Sublease and the
difference between the rent expense and rent paid is being recorded as deferred rent.
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Rent expense was $63,000 and $59,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Rent
expense was $125,000 and $122,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Future minimum
payments pursuant to the Sublease are $43,000 in the aggregate through September 30, 2018, the remaining term of
the Sublease.

Additionally, on May 25, 2018, the Company entered into an Office Lease (the “Lease”) with Kilroy Realty, L.P. (the
“Landlord”). The Lease is for approximately 7,149 rentable square feet of space located at the Premises. The Premises
will continue to be the Company’s corporate headquarters.

The Lease will commence on November 1, 2018 and will expire on January 31, 2022, unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the terms of the Lease (the “Term”). Monthly base rent payments due under the Lease for the Premises
will be $26,808.75, subject to annual increases of 3.0% during the term of the Lease. The Company is also responsible
for certain other costs under the Lease, including electricity and utility expenses and certain repair and maintenance
obligations.

The Lease provides the Company with an option to extend the term of the lease for a period of three years beyond the
Term. If the option is exercised, the renewal term will be upon the same terms and conditions as the original Term,
except that the base rent will be equal to the prevailing market rate as determined pursuant to the terms of the Lease.

Future minimum payments pursuant to the Lease are as follows (in thousands):

As of June 30, 2018:

2018 $27
2019 270
2020 333
2021 343
2022 29

Total minimum lease payments $1,002

9. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated all subsequent events through the date of filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
with the SEC, to ensure that this filing includes appropriate disclosure of events both recognized in the financial
statements as of June 30, 2018, and events which occurred subsequent to June 30, 2018, but which were not
recognized in the financial statements.

On July 11, 2018, the Company filed with the SEC a universal Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No.
333-226133) (the “New Shelf Registration Statement”) to replace the Shelf Registration Statement, which was fully
exhausted following the completion of the June 2018 Offering. The New Shelf Registration Statement provides the
Company with the ability to offer up to $450.0 million of securities, including equity, debt and other securities as
described in the New Shelf Registration Statement. The New Shelf Registration Statement was declared effective by
the SEC on July 19, 2018. Pursuant to the New Shelf Registration Statement, the Company may offer such securities
from time to time and through one or more methods of distribution, subject to market conditions and the Company’s
capital needs. Specific terms and prices will be determined at the time of each offering under a separate prospectus
supplement, which will be filed with the SEC at the time of any offering.
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Item 2.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” as defined in Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, in connection with

the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that,

if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially and adversely from those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements include estimates of our
expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and our needs for additional financing; statements regarding our ability
to develop, acquire and advance drug candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials and preclinical studies;
statements concerning new product candidates; risks and uncertainties associated with our research and development
activities, including our clinical trials and preclinical studies; our expectations regarding the potential market size and
the size of the patient populations for our drug candidates, if approved for commercial use, and our ability to serve
such markets; statements regarding our ability to maintain and establish collaborations or obtain additional funding;
statements regarding developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry and other matters that
do not relate strictly to historical facts or statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. These statements
are often identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “m
“will,” the negative versions of these terms and similar expressions or variations. These statements are based on the
beliefs and assumptions of our management based on information currently available to management. Such
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results and the
timing of certain events to differ materially and adversely from future results expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to,
those identified below, and those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q and in our other Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, filings. Furthermore, such
forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances occurring after the date of such
statements.

99 ¢ 9 ¢

Overview

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on the development of novel, first-in-class or
best-in-class therapies for metabolic and endocrine disorders. Our lead clinical program, VK5211, is an orally
available, non-steroidal selective androgen receptor modulator, or SARM. A SARM is designed to selectively interact
with a subset of receptors that have a normal physiologic role of interacting with naturally-occurring hormones called
androgens. Broad activation of androgen receptors with drugs, such as exogenous testosterone, can stimulate muscle
growth and improve bone mineral density, but often results in unwanted side effects such as prostate growth, hair
growth and acne. VK5211 is expected to selectively produce the therapeutic benefits of testosterone in muscle and
bone tissue, potentially accelerating rehabilitation and improving patient outcomes. VK5211 is also expected to have
improved safety, tolerability and patient acceptance relative to testosterone. We believe that VK5211 may also have
potential benefits to patients suffering from muscle loss in other settings, such as joint replacements or muscle wasting
disorders.

In October 2015, we commenced enrollment in a Phase 2 proof-of-concept clinical trial in 108 patients recovering
from non-elective hip fracture surgery. In November 2017, we announced positive top-line results from this

study. Top-line data showed that the trial achieved its primary endpoint, demonstrating statistically significant, dose
dependent increases in lean body mass, less head, following treatment with VK5211 as compared to placebo. The
study also achieved certain secondary endpoints, demonstrating statistically significant increases in appendicular lean
body mass and total lean body mass for all doses of VK5211, compared to placebo. VK5211 demonstrated
encouraging safety and tolerability in this study, with no drug-related serious adverse events, or SAEs, reported. We
expect to engage in further discussions with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, regarding the
potential further clinical development of VK5211 in hip fracture as well as other potential acute use settings.
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Our second clinical program, VK2809, an orally available, tissue and receptor-subtype selective agonist of the thyroid
hormone receptor beta, or TRB, is in a Phase 2 clinical trial for the treatment of patients with hypercholesterolemia
and fatty liver disease. VK2809 belongs to a family of novel prodrugs which are cleaved in vivo to release potent
thyromimetics. Selective activation of the TRB receptor in liver tissue is believed to favorably affect cholesterol and
lipoprotein levels via multiple mechanisms, including increasing the expression of low-density lipoprotein receptors
and increasing mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation. We are currently conducting a Phase 2 clinical trial of VK2809 in
approximately 60 patients with hypercholesterolemia and fatty liver disease. In June 2018, we announced that
enrollment had been completed for this study and that we expect to report initial results from this Phase 2 clinical trial
in the second half of 2018. In October 2017, we announced positive final results from an eight-week study of VK2809
in an in vivo model of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASH. Treatment with VK2809 resulted in: (1) statistically
significant reductions in several key measures of steatosis, including liver triglyceride content and total liver lipid
content, (2) fibrotic activity, including total liver fibrosis, type I collagen and hydroxyproline, relative to vehicle
controls, and (3) statistically significant changes in the expression of key genes associated with NASH development
and progression, relative to vehicle control, suggesting improved lipid and cholesterol metabolism, improved lipid
metabolism and insulin sensitivity and reduced fibrotic activity.
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In February 2017, we announced that we are commencing efforts to utilize VK2809 to potentially help patients who
suffer from Glycogen Storage Disease type la, or GSD Ia. GSD Ia is a rare, orphan genetic disease caused by a
deficiency of glucose-6-phosphatase, or G6PC, an enzyme responsible for the liver’s production of free glucose from
glycogen and gluconeogenesis. Approximately 2,000 patients in the U.S. suffer from GSD Ia. We have conducted a
proof-of-concept study utilizing VK2809 in an in vivo model of GSD Ia. Data demonstrated that treatment with
VK2809 led to statistically significant reductions in key metabolic markers of GSD Ia. VK2809’s potential to rapidly
reduce hepatic triglyceride levels, as demonstrated in this initial evaluation in a GSD Ia model, provides support for
the continued investigation of the compound in this indication. We expect to initiate a Phase 1 human
proof-of-concept clinical trial to evaluate VK2809 in patients with GSD Ia in 2018.

We are also developing VK0214 for X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy, or X-ALD, a rare X-linked, inherited
neurological disorder characterized by a breakdown in the protective barriers surrounding brain and nerve cells. The
disease, for which there is no approved treatment, is caused by mutations in a peroxisomal transporter of very long
chain fatty acids, or VLCFA, known as ABCD1. As a result, transporter function is impaired and patients are unable
to efficiently metabolize VLCFA. The TRSB receptor is known to regulate expression of an alternative VLCFA
transporter, known as ABCD2. Various preclinical models have demonstrated that increased expression of ABCD2
can lead to normalization of VLCFA metabolism. Preliminary data suggest that VK0214 stimulates ABCD2
expression in an in vitro model and reduces VLCFA levels in an in vivo model of X-ALD. Pending completion of
certain ongoing toxicology studies, we expect to file an IND to initiate a proof-of-concept study in patients with
X-ALD in the first half of 2019.

On February 6, 2018, we completed an underwritten public offering of common stock, or the February 2018 Offering,
pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-212134), as amended, that was declared effective on
July 26, 2016, or the Shelf Registration Statement. In the February 2018 Offering, we sold 12,650,000 shares of our
common stock at a public offering price of $5.00 per share of common stock. Upon the closing of the February 2018
Offering, we received net proceeds of $58.7 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other
offering expenses.

On June 11, 2018, we completed an underwritten public offering of common stock, or the June 2018 Offering,
pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement and a registration statement on Form S-3MEEF (File No. 333-225479)
filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act. In the June 2018
Offering, we sold 8,625,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $9.00 per share of common
stock. Upon the closing of the June 2018 Offering, we received net proceeds of $72.3 million, after deducting
underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses.

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on September 24, 2012. Since our incorporation, we

have devoted most of our efforts towards conducting certain clinical trials and preclinical studies related to our

VK5211, VK2809 and VK0214 programs, as well as efforts towards raising capital and building infrastructure. We
obtained exclusive worldwide rights to our VK5211, VK2809 and VK0214 programs and certain other assets pursuant

to an exclusive license agreement with Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, or Ligand. The terms of this license
agreement are detailed in the Master License Agreement which we entered into on May 21, 2014 with Ligand, as
amended, or the Master License Agreement. A summary of the Master License Agreement can be found under the
heading “Agreements with Ligand—M aster License Agreement” under Part I, “Item 1. Business” of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 7, 2018.

Financial Operations Overview
Revenues

To date, we have not generated any revenue. We do not expect to receive any revenue from any drug candidates that
we develop unless and until we obtain regulatory approval for, and commercialize, our drug candidates or enter into
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collaborative agreements with third parties.
Research and Development Expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we charged $13.7 million to research and development expense as we
continued our efforts in conducting Phase 2 clinical trials for VK5211 and VK2809 and performed additional in vivo
studies for VK2809 and VK0214. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2018, we charged $5.2 million and
$8.3 million, respectively, to research and development expense related to our continued efforts in conducting Phase 2
clinical trials for VK5211 and VK2809, preparing for the initiation of a Phase 1 clinical trial for VK2809 in patients
with GSD Ia and initiating certain toxicology studies. We expect that our ongoing research and development expenses
will consist of costs incurred for the development of our drug candidates, including, but not limited to:
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employee and consultant-related expenses, which will include salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation, and
certain consultant fees and travel expenses;

expenses incurred under agreements with investigative sites and contract research organizations, or CROs, which will
conduct a substantial portion of our research and development activities on our behalf;

payments to third-party manufacturers, which will produce our active pharmaceutical ingredients and finished
products;

ticense fees paid to third parties for use of their intellectual property; and

facilities, depreciation and other allocated expenses, which will include direct and allocated expenses for rent and
maintenance of facilities and equipment, depreciation of leasehold improvements, equipment and laboratory and
other supplies.

We expense all research and development costs as incurred.

The process of conducting the necessary clinical research to obtain regulatory approval is costly and time consuming
and the successful development of our drug candidates is highly uncertain. Our future research and development
expenses will depend on the clinical success of each of our drug candidates, as well as ongoing assessments of the
commercial potential of such drug candidates. In addition, we cannot forecast with any degree of certainty which drug
candidates may be subject to future collaborations, when such arrangements will be secured, if at all, and to what
degree such arrangements would affect our development plans and capital requirements. We expect to incur increased
research and development expenses in the future as we continue our Phase 2 clinical trials for VK5211 and VK2809
and seek to advance our additional programs.

General and Administrative Expenses

We expect that our general and administrative expenses will continue to increase in the future in order to support our
expected increase in research and development activities, including increased salaries and other related costs,
stock-based compensation and consulting fees for executive, finance, accounting and business development functions.
We also expect general and administrative expenses to increase as a result of additional costs associated with
continuing as a public company, including expenses related to continued compliance with the rules and regulations of
the SEC and The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC, additional insurance expenses, investor relations activities and other
administrative and professional services. Other significant costs are expected to include legal fees relating to patent
and corporate matters, facility costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses, and fees for
accounting and other consulting services.

Other Expense

Through May 21, 2018, other expense includes the change in fair value of the debt conversion feature liability
contained in the Secured Convertible Promissory Note, or Ligand Note, issued pursuant to the Loan and Security
Agreement with Ligand, and its related interest expense, as well as the non-cash amortization of debt discount cost
associated with the Ligand Note, offset by interest income earned from our cash and short-term investments. After
May 21, 2018, other expense includes only interest income earned from our cash and short-term investments as the
Ligand Note and related interest were paid in full on May 21, 2018.
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JOBS Act

We are an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the rules under the Securities Act, and we utilize certain
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not emerging growth
companies. For example, as an emerging growth company, we are not required to provide an auditor’s attestation
report on our internal control over financial reporting in our annual reports on Form 10-K as otherwise required by
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended. In addition, Section 107 of the Jumpstart Our
Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, provides that an emerging growth company can utilize the extended
transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting
standards. Thus, an emerging growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those
standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected to “opt out” of the extended
transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards pursuant to Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act.
As aresult, we are complying with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of
such standards is required for non-emerging growth companies.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States. The preparation of these
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financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the
reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and
judgments related to the preclinical, nonclinical and clinical development costs and drug manufacturing costs. We
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 and Note 3 to our financial statements included
in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
Research and Development Expenses

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2018
and 2017 (in thousands, except % change).

$ %
Three Months
Ended June 30, Change Change
2018 2017

Research and development expenses $5,221 $3,716 $1,505 40.5 %

The increase in research and development expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2018 as compared to the
same period in 2017 was primarily due to increases in expenses of $1.4 million related to certain pre-clinical study
efforts, $303,000 related to services provided by certain third party consultants, and $122,000 in stock-based
compensation expense offset by a decrease of $350,000 primarily related to the manufacturing of certain of our drug
candidates.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2018
and 2017 (in thousands, except % change).

$ %
Three Months
Ended June 30, Change Change
2018 2017

General and administrative expenses $1,704 $1,267 $ 437 345 %

The increase in general and administrative expenses during the three months ended June 30, 2018 as compared to the
same period in 2017 was primarily due to increases in stock-based compensation expense of $167,000, salary and
benefits related expenses of $162,000 and franchise tax expense of $51,000.

49



Edgar Filing: Viking Therapeutics, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Other income (expense)

The following table summarizes our other income (expense) for the three months ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in
thousands, except % change).

Three

Months $ %
Ended June

30, Change Change
2018 2017

Other income (expense) $253 $(189) $ 442 2339 %

Other income (expense) recognized during the three months ended June 30, 2018 consisted primarily of income of
$37,000 related to the decrease in fair value of the Ligand Note’s conversion feature and interest income of $406,000
offset by $146,000 of expense related to the amortization of the Ligand Note discount, $14,000 of interest expense
related to the Ligand Note and $30,000 of expense relating to the amortization of certain financing costs.
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Other income (expense) recognized during the three months ended June 30, 2017 consisted primarily of an expense of
$337,000 related to the amortization of the Ligand Note discount, $24,000 of interest expense related to the Ligand
Note and $422,000 of expense relating to the amortization of financing costs relating to the Distribution Agreement
with Maxim and the Purchase Agreement with Aspire Capital, offset by $571,000 of income related to the change in
fair value of the Ligand Note’s conversion feature.

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017
Research and Development Expenses

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and
2017 (in thousands, except % change).

$ %
Six Months
Ended June 30, Change Change
2018 2017

Research and development expenses $8,264 $7,243 $1,021 141 %

The increase in research and development expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2018 as compared to the
same period in 2017 was primarily due to increases in expenses of $1.6 million related to certain pre-clinical study
efforts, $447,000 related to services provided by certain third party consultants and $178,000 in stock-based
compensation expense offset by decreases of $851,000 primarily related to the manufacturing of certain of our drug
candidates and $265,000 in clinical trial activity primarily related to our VK5211 program.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table summarizes our general and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2018 and
2017 (in thousands, except % change).

$ %
Six Months
Ended June 30, Change Change
2018 2017

General and administrative expenses $3,466 $2,708 $ 758 280 %

The increase in general and administrative expenses during the six months ended June 30, 2018 as compared to the
same period in 2017 was primarily due to increases in stock-based compensation expense of $319,000, salary and
benefits related expenses of $253,000, legal expenses of $45,000, and franchise tax expense of $63,000.

Other income (expense)

The following table summarizes our other income (expense) for the six months June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands,
except % change).

Six Months $ %
Ended June
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30, Change Change
2018 2017
Other income (expense) $1,507 $(443) $1,950 4402 %

Other income (expense) recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2018 consisted primarily of income of $1.4
million related to the decrease in fair value of the Ligand Note’s conversion feature and interest income of $611,000
offset by $404,000 of expense related to the amortization of the Ligand Note discount, $38,000 of interest expense
related to the Ligand Note and $60,000 of expense relating to the amortization of certain financing costs.

Other income (expense) recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2017 consisted primarily of an expense of
$768,000 related to the amortization of the Ligand Note discount, $49,000 of interest expense related to the Ligand
Note and $520,000 of expense relating to the amortization of financing costs relating to the Equity Distribution
Agreement with Maxim Group LLC and the Purchase Agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC, offset by $848,000
of income related to the change in fair value of the Ligand Note’s conversion feature and $46,000 of interest income on
investments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations and have not generated any revenues since our
inception. As of June 30, 2018, we had cash, cash equivalents and short term investments of $142.2 million. As such,

we believe our cash, cash equivalents
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and short-term investments will be sufficient to fund our operations through at least the third quarter of 2019, which is
more than one year after the date of our filing this Form 10-Q.

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which to date have consisted of the cost to obtain the license of
intellectual property from Ligand, certain research and development expenses related to furthering the development of
VK5211, VK2809 and VK0214 efforts and general and administrative expenses. Since we have not generated any
revenues to date, we have incurred operating losses since our inception. Cash used to fund operating expenses is
impacted by the timing of payment of these expenses, as reflected in the change in our outstanding accounts payable
and accrued expenses.

On April 13, 2016, we completed an underwritten public offering of our common stock and warrants to purchase
shares of our common stock, or the Offering, pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-208182)
that was declared effective on April 7, 2016, and a registration statement on Form S-1MEF (File No. 333-210650)
filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) of the Securities Act. In the Offering, we sold 7,500,000 shares of our common stock
and warrants to purchase up to 7,500,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $1.25 per share of
common stock and related warrant. The warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share of common stock, were
immediately exercisable upon issuance and will expire on April 13, 2021. We granted the underwriters for the
Offering a 45-day option to purchase up to an additional 1,125,000 shares of our common stock and/or warrants to
purchase up to an additional 1,125,000 shares of our common stock to cover over-allotments, if any. On April 13,
2016, the underwriters partially exercised the over-allotment option for warrants to purchase an additional 1,125,000
shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $0.01 per warrant. Upon the closing of the Offering on April
13, 2016, we received net proceeds of $7.8 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other
offering expenses of $1.6 million.

On April 27, 2016, the underwriters for the Offering exercised their over-allotment option to purchase 1,125,000
shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $1.24 per share. On April 29, 2016, we sold the 1,125,000
shares to the underwriters pursuant to the over-allotment option and received additional net proceeds of $1.3 million,
after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other offering expenses of $111,600. Through June 30,
2018, we have received $4.2 million in proceeds related to the exercise of the warrants that were issued in the
Offering.

On June 14, 2017, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with certain accredited investors, or the Purchasers,
pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggregate of 3,749,783 shares of our common stock in a registered direct
offering, or the Registered Direct Offering. The shares were offered by us pursuant to the Shelf Registration
Statement. In a concurrent private placement, we also agreed, pursuant to the securities purchase agreement, to issue
and sell to each of the Purchasers a warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of common stock for each share of common stock
purchased by a Purchaser in the Registered Direct Offering. The exercise price of the warrants is $1.30 per share,
subject to adjustment as provided therein, and became exercisable beginning on December 19, 2017 through
December 19, 2022. The combined purchase price for one share and one warrant to purchase 0.75 shares of common
stock in these offerings was $1.15. The closing of the offerings occurred on June 19, 2017. The aggregate net proceeds
from the offerings, after deducting the placement agents’ fees and other offering expenses, were $3.9 million. Through
June 30, 2018, we have received $1.3 million in proceeds related to the exercise of the warrants that were issued as a
part of this private placement.

On September 28, 2017, we entered into a purchase agreement pursuant to which, on September 29, 2017, we sold to
Lincoln Park Capital, LLC, or LPC, 701,282 shares of common stock, at a price of approximately $1.78 per share for
an aggregate purchase price of $1.3 million, pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement and the prospectus
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supplement thereto dated September 28, 2017.

On September 28, 2017, we also entered into a purchase agreement, or the Commitment Purchase Agreement, with
LPC, pursuant to which we have the right to sell to LPC up to $15.0 million in shares of common stock, subject to
certain limitations and conditions set forth in the Commitment Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Commitment
Purchase Agreement, we have the right, from time to time at our sole discretion over the 30-month period from and
after October 26, 2017 to direct LPC to purchase up to 75,000 shares of common stock on any business day (subject to
certain limitations contained in the Commitment Purchase Agreement), with such amounts increasing based on certain
threshold prices set forth in the Commitment Purchase Agreement; however, not to exceed $1.0 million in total
purchase proceeds per purchase date. The purchase price of shares of common stock that we elect to sell to LPC
pursuant to the Commitment Purchase Agreement will be based on the market prices of the common stock at the time
of such purchases as set forth in the Commitment Purchase Agreement. In addition to regular purchases, as described
above, we may also direct LPC to purchase additional amounts as accelerated purchases or as additional purchases if
the closing sale price of the common stock is not below certain threshold prices, as set forth in the Commitment
Purchase Agreement. In all instances, we may not sell shares of its common stock to LPC under the Commitment
Purchase Agreement if it would result in LPC beneficially owning more than 4.99% of the Common Stock. As
consideration for LPC’s commitment to purchase shares of common stock pursuant to the Commitment Purchase
Agreement, we issued to LPC 100,000 shares of common stock. Since inception of this purchase agreement, we sold
to LPC in accordance with the terms of the agreement 343,051 shares of our common stock for aggregate proceeds of
$802,000.
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On December 11, 2017, we closed an underwritten public offering pursuant to the Shelf Registration Statement of
5,900,000 shares of our common stock, including 769,565 shares sold pursuant to the underwriters’ full exercise of
their option to purchase additional shares to cover over-allotments, at a public offering price of $2.50 per share, for
total net proceeds of $13.4 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering
expenses.

On February 6, 2018, we completed the February 2018 Offering. In the February 2018 Offering, we sold 12,650,000
shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $5.00 per share of common stock. Upon the closing of the
February 2018 Offering, we received net proceeds of $58.7 million after deducting underwriting discounts,
commissions and other offering expenses.

On June 11, 2018, we completed the June 2018 Offering. In the June 2018 Offering, we sold 8,625,000 shares of our
common stock at a public offering price of $9.00 per share of common stock. Upon the closing of the June 2018
Offering, we received net proceeds of $72.3 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other
offering expenses.

On July 11, 2018, we filed with the SEC a universal Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-226133),
or the New Shelf Registration Statement, to replace the Shelf Registration Statement, which was fully exhausted
following the completion of the June 2018 Offering. The New Shelf Registration Statement provides us with the
ability to offer up to $450.0 million of securities, including equity, debt and other securities as described in the New
Shelf Registration Statement. The New Shelf Registration Statement was declared effective by the SEC on July 19,
2018. Pursuant to the New Shelf Registration Statement, we may offer such securities from time to time and through
one or more methods of distribution, subject to market conditions and our capital needs. Specific terms and prices will
be determined at the time of each offering under a separate prospectus supplement, which will be filed with the SEC at
the time of any offering.

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated below (in thousands):

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2018 2017
Cash used in operating activities $(10,573 ) $(7,482)
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities $(96,252) $1,274
Cash provided by financing activities $132,447 $6,526

Cash Used in Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2018, cash used in operating activities of $10.6 million primarily reflected our
net losses for the period, adjusted by non-cash charges such as amortization of discount charged to interest expense on
the Ligand Note, amortization of investment premiums, amortization of financing costs, amortization of non-cash
clinical trial costs, stock-based compensation and a decrease in the fair value of the debt conversion feature liability
for the Ligand Note as well as changes in our working capital accounts, primarily consisting of an increase in prepaid
expenses.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, cash used in operating activities of $7.5 million primarily reflected our
net losses for the period, adjusted by non-cash charges such as amortization of discount charged to interest expense on
the Ligand Note, amortization of investment premiums, amortization of financing costs, stock-based compensation
and changes in our working capital accounts, primarily consisting of increases in accounts payable, accrued expenses
and prepaid expenses, offset by a decrease in the fair value of the debt conversion feature liability for the Ligand Note.

Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities
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During the six months ended June 30, 2018, cash used in investing activities of $96.3 million resulted primarily from
the purchase of investments of $113.7 million offset by proceeds of sales and maturities of investments of $17.5
million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2017, cash provided by investing activities of $1.3 million resulted primarily
from the proceeds of sales and maturities of investments of $11.7 million, offset by the purchase of investments of
$10.4 million.

Cash Provided by Financing Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2018, cash provided by financing activities was $132.4 million, which consisted
primarily of proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of discount, of $72.6 million and $58.8 million in the
June 2018 Offering and February 2018 Offering, respectively, proceeds from certain warrant exercises of $4.9 million
and proceeds from certain stock option exercises of $239,000, offset by the repayment of the Ligand Note of $3.8
million and payments of certain deferred offering and financing costs of $266,000.
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During the six months ended June 30, 2017, cash provided by financing activities was $6.5 million, which consisted
primarily of proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of discount, of $6.6 million, offset by $62,000 in
payments of certain deferred offering and financing costs.

Future Funding Requirements

As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and based upon our current operating plan, we believe that we
have sufficient capital to fund our operating and capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. We anticipate,
however, that we will continue to generate losses for the foreseeable future, and we expect the losses to increase
materially as we continue the development of, and seek regulatory approvals for, our drug candidates, and seek to
commercialize any drugs for which we receive regulatory approval. We will need to raise additional capital to fund
our operations and complete our ongoing and planned clinical trials. Although we expect to finance future cash needs
through public or private equity or debt offerings, funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If
we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may be required to
delay, limit, reduce or terminate our drug development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop
and market drug candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

the scope, rate of progress, results and costs of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other related activities;
our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms
of such agreements;
the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for any of our current or future drug
candidates;
the number and characteristics of the drug candidates we seek to develop or commercialize;
the cost of manufacturing clinical supplies, and establishing commercial supplies, of our drug candidates;
the cost of commercialization activities if any of our current or future drug candidates are approved for sale,
including marketing, sales and distribution costs;
the expenses needed to attract and retain skilled personnel;
the costs associated with being a public company;
the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our drug candidates, should any of our drug
candidates receive marketing approval; and
the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing possible patent claims,
including litigation costs and the outcome of any such litigation.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2018, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of
Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are a smaller reporting company, as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and are not required to provide the information required under this item.

Item 4.Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
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We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
by us in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Our
disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures. As
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required by Rule 13a-15(b) or Rule 15d-15(b) promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, we carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on the foregoing, our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2018
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
We are not currently party to, and none of our property is currently the subject of, any material legal proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and
uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
before making a decision to invest in our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the
only ones we face. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could
be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you
could lose part or all of your investment.

Risk factors marked with an asterisk (*) below include a change from or an update to the risk factors included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, filed with the SEC on March 7, 2018.

Risks Relating to Our Business

* We are a clinical-stage company, have a very limited operating history and are expected to incur significant
operating losses during the next stages of our corporate development.

We are a clinical-stage company. We were incorporated in, and have been conducting operations since,

September 2012. Our operations have been limited to raising capital, building infrastructure, obtaining the worldwide
rights to certain technology from Ligand Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, or Ligand, and planning, preparing and
conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials of our drug candidates, including VK5211, VK2809 and VK0612,
which are currently in Phase 2 clinical development, and VK0214 and the erythropoietin receptor, or EPOR, and
diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1, or DGAT-1, programs, which are each currently in preclinical development. As a
result, we have no meaningful historical operations upon which to evaluate our business and prospects and have not
yet demonstrated an ability to obtain marketing approval for any of our drug candidates or successfully overcome the
risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in the biopharmaceutical industry. We also have not
generated any revenue to date, and we continue to incur significant research and development and other expenses. As
of June 30, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit of $91.1 million. For the foreseeable future, we expect to continue to
incur losses, which will increase significantly from historical levels as we expand our drug development activities,
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seek potential partnering opportunities and/or regulatory approvals for our drug candidates and begin to
commercialize them if they are approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, the European
Medicines Agency, or EMA, or comparable foreign authorities. Even if we succeed in partnering or developing and
commercializing one or more drug candidates, we may never become profitable. If we fail to achieve or maintain
profitability, it would adversely affect the value of our common stock.

We are substantially dependent on technologies we licensed from Ligand, and if we lose the license to such
technologies or our master license agreement with Ligand, or the Master License Agreement, is terminated for any
reason, our ability to develop existing and new drug candidates would be harmed, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

Our business is substantially dependent upon technology licensed from Ligand. Pursuant to the Master License
Agreement, we have been granted exclusive worldwide rights to VK5211, VK2809, VK0214, VK0612 and preclinical
programs for anemia and metabolic disorders. Selective androgen receptor modulators, or SARMs, such as our lead
program VK5211, are key compounds used by us in the development and commercialization of our drug candidates.
Most of the intellectual property related to our drug candidates is currently owned by Ligand, and we have the rights
to use such intellectual property pursuant to the Master License Agreement. Therefore, our ability to develop and
commercialize our drug candidates depends entirely on the effectiveness and continuation of the
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Master License Agreement. If we lose the right to license any of these key compounds, our ability to develop existing
and new drug candidates would be harmed.

Ligand has the right to terminate the Master License Agreement under certain circumstances, including, but not
limited to: (1) in the event of our insolvency or bankruptcy, (2) if we do not pay an undisputed amount owing under
the Master License Agreement when due and fail to cure such default within a specified period of time, or (3) if we
default on certain of our material obligations and fail to cure the default within a specified period of time.

We are dependent on the success of one or more of our current drug candidates and we cannot be certain that any of
them will receive regulatory approval or be commercialized.

We have spent significant time, money and effort on the licensing and development of our core metabolic and
endocrine disease assets, VK5211, VK2809, VK0214, VK0612 and our earlier-stage assets, the EPOR and DGAT-1
programs. To date, no pivotal clinical trials designed to provide clinically and statistically significant proof of
efficacy, or to provide sufficient evidence of safety to justify approval, have been completed with any of our drug
candidates. All of our drug candidates will require additional development, including clinical trials as well as further
preclinical studies to evaluate their toxicology, carcinogenicity and pharmacokinetics and optimize their formulation,
and regulatory clearances before they can be commercialized. Positive results obtained during early development do
not necessarily mean later development will succeed or that regulatory clearances will be obtained. Our drug
development efforts may not lead to commercial drugs, either because our drug candidates fail to be safe and effective
or because we have inadequate financial or other resources to advance our drug candidates through the clinical
development and approval processes. If any of our drug candidates fail to demonstrate safety or efficacy at any time or
during any phase of development, we would experience potentially significant delays in, or be required to abandon,
development of the drug candidate.

We do not anticipate that any of our current drug candidates will be eligible to receive regulatory approval from the
FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities and begin commercialization for a number of years, if ever. Even if we
ultimately receive regulatory approval for any of these drug candidates, we or our potential future partners, if any,
may be unable to commercialize them successfully for a variety of reasons. These include, for example, the
availability of alternative treatments, lack of cost-effectiveness, the cost of manufacturing the product on a
commercial scale and competition with other drugs. The success of our drug candidates may also be limited by the
prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects. If we fail to commercialize one or more of our current drug
candidates, we may be unable to generate sufficient revenues to attain or maintain profitability, and our financial
condition and stock price may decline.

*If development of our drug candidates does not produce favorable results, we and our collaborators, if any, may be
unable to commercialize these products.

To receive regulatory approval for the commercialization of our core metabolic and endocrine disease assets,
VK5211, VK2809, VKO0214, VK0612 and our earlier-stage assets, the EPOR and DGAT-1 programs, or any other
drug candidates that we may develop, adequate and well-controlled clinical trials must be conducted to demonstrate
safety and efficacy in humans to the satisfaction of the FDA, EMA and comparable foreign authorities. In order to
support marketing approval, these agencies typically require successful results in one or more Phase 3 clinical trials,
which our current drug candidates have not yet reached and may never reach. The development process is expensive,
can take many years and has an uncertain outcome. Failure can occur at any stage of the process. We may experience
numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the development process that could delay or prevent
commercialization of our current or future drug candidates, including the following:

clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results;
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preclinical studies conducted with drug candidates during clinical development to, among other things, evaluate their
toxicology, carcinogenicity and pharmacokinetics and optimize their formulation may produce unfavorable results;

patient recruitment and enrollment in clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate;

costs of development may be greater than we anticipate;

our drug candidates may cause undesirable side effects that delay or preclude regulatory approval or limit their
commercial use or market acceptance, if approved;

collaborators who may be responsible for the development of our drug candidates may not devote sufficient
resources to these clinical trials or other preclinical studies of these candidates or conduct them in a timely manner;
or
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we may face delays in obtaining regulatory approvals to commence one or more clinical trials.
Success in early development does not mean that later development will be successful because, for example, drug
candidates in later-stage clinical trials may fail to demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy despite having progressed
through initial clinical trials.

We licensed all of the intellectual property related to our drug candidates from Ligand pursuant to the Master License
Agreement. In late 2017, we reported positive top-line results from a Phase 2 clinical trial for VK5211. We are also
currently conducting a Phase 2 clinical trial and certain preclinical studies for VK2809 and certain preclinical studies
for VKO0214. All other clinical trials, preclinical studies and other analyses performed to date with respect to our drug
candidates have been conducted by Ligand. Therefore, as a company, we have limited experience in conducting
clinical trials for our drug candidates. Since our experience with our drug candidates is limited, we will need to train
our existing personnel and hire additional personnel in order to successfully administer and manage our clinical trials
and other studies as planned, which may result in delays in completing such planned clinical trials and preclinical
studies. Moreover, to date our drug candidates have been tested in less than the number of patients that will likely
need to be studied to obtain regulatory approval. The data collected from clinical trials with larger patient populations
may not demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to support regulatory approval of these drug candidates.

We currently do not have strategic collaborations in place for clinical development of any of our current drug
candidates. Therefore, in the future, we or any potential future collaborative partner will be responsible for
establishing the targeted endpoints and goals for development of our drug candidates. These targeted endpoints and
goals may be inadequate to demonstrate the safety and efficacy levels required for regulatory approvals. Even if we
believe data collected during the development of our drug candidates are promising, such data may not be sufficient to
support marketing approval by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities. Further, data generated during
development can be interpreted in different ways, and the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may interpret
such data in different ways than us or our collaborators. Our failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy
of our drug candidates would prevent our receipt of regulatory approval, and ultimately the potential
commercialization of these drug candidates.

Since we do not currently possess the resources necessary to independently develop and commercialize our drug
candidates, including our core metabolic and endocrine disease assets, VK5211, VK2809, VK0214, VK0612 and our
earlier-stage assets, the EPOR and DGAT-1 programs, or any other drug candidates that we may develop, we may
seek to enter into collaborative agreements to assist in the development and potential future commercialization of
some or all of these assets as a component of our strategic plan. However, our discussions with potential collaborators
may not lead to the establishment of collaborations on acceptable terms, if at all, or it may take longer than expected
to establish new collaborations, leading to development and potential commercialization delays, which would
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We expect to continue to incur significant research and development expenses, which may make it difficult for us to
attain profitability.

We expect to expend substantial funds in research and development, including preclinical studies and clinical trials of
our drug candidates, and to manufacture and market any drug candidates in the event they are approved for
commercial sale. We also may need additional funding to develop or acquire complementary companies, technologies
and assets, as well as for working capital requirements and other operating and general corporate purposes. Moreover,
our planned increases in staffing will dramatically increase our costs in the near and long-term.

However, our spending on current and future research and development programs and drug candidates for specific

indications may not yield any commercially viable products. Due to our limited financial and managerial resources,
we must focus on a limited number of research programs and drug candidates and on specific indications. Our
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resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market
opportunities.

Because the successful development of our drug candidates is uncertain, we are unable to precisely estimate the actual
funds we will require to develop and potentially commercialize them. In addition, we may not be able to generate
sufficient revenue, even if we are able to commercialize any of our drug candidates, to become profitable.

*Given our lack of current cash flow, we will need to raise additional capital; however, it may be unavailable to us or,
even if capital is obtained, may cause dilution or place significant restrictions on our ability to operate our business.

Since we will be unable to generate sufficient, if any, cash flow to fund our operations for the foreseeable future, we
will need to seek additional equity or debt financing to provide the capital required to maintain or expand our
operations. As of June 30, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents and investments totaling $142.2 million. There can
be no assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient
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additional capital on acceptable terms or at all. If such additional financing is not available on satisfactory terms, or is
not available in sufficient amounts, we may be required to delay, limit or eliminate the development of business
opportunities and our ability to achieve our business objectives, our competitiveness, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially adversely affected. In addition, we may be required to grant
rights to develop and market drug candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. Our
inability to fund our business could lead to the loss of your investment.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:

the scope, rate of progress, results and cost of our clinical trials, preclinical studies and other related activities;

our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms
of such arrangements;

the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for any of our current or future drug
candidates;

the number and characteristics of the drug candidates we seek to develop or commercialize;

the cost of manufacturing clinical supplies, and establishing commercial supplies, of our drug candidates;

the cost of commercialization activities if any of our current or future drug candidates are approved for sale,
including marketing, sales and distribution costs;

the expenses needed to attract and retain skilled personnel;

the costs associated with being a public company;

the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our drug candidates, should any of our drug
candidates receive marketing approval; and

the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing possible patent claims,
including litigation costs and the outcome of any such litigation.
If we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, the percentage ownership of our existing stockholders may
be reduced, and accordingly these stockholders may experience substantial dilution. We may also issue equity
securities that provide for rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our common stock. Given our need for
cash and that equity issuances are the most common type of fundraising for companies like ours, the risk of dilution is
particularly significant for stockholders of our company.
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Our drug candidates may cause undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or
commercialization or have other significant adverse implications on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Undesirable side effects observed in clinical trials or in supportive preclinical studies with our drug candidates could
interrupt, delay or halt their development and could result in the denial of regulatory approval by the FDA, EMA or
comparable foreign authorities for any or all targeted indications or adversely affect the marketability of any such drug
candidates that receive regulatory approval. In turn, this could eliminate or limit our ability to commercialize our drug
candidates.

Our drug candidates may exhibit adverse effects in preclinical toxicology studies and adverse interactions with other
drugs. There are also risks associated with additional requirements the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities
may impose for marketing approval with regard to a particular disease.

Our drug candidates may require a risk management program that could include patient and healthcare provider
education, usage guidelines, appropriate promotional activities, a post-marketing observational study, and ongoing
safety and reporting mechanisms, among other requirements. Prescribing could be limited to physician specialists or
physicians trained in the use of the drug, or could be limited to a more restricted patient population. Any risk
management program required for approval of our drug candidates could potentially have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Undesirable side effects involving our drug candidates may have other significant adverse implications on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. For example:
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we may be unable to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms, if at all;
our collaborators may terminate any development agreements covering these drug candidates;
tf any development agreements are terminated, we may determine not to further develop the affected drug candidates
due to resource constraints and may not be able to establish additional collaborations for their further development on
acceptable terms, if at all;
+f we were to later continue the development of these drug candidates and receive regulatory approval, earlier
findings may significantly limit their marketability and thus significantly lower our potential future revenues from
their commercialization;
we may be subject to product liability or stockholder litigation; and
we may be unable to attract and retain key employees.
In addition, if any of our drug candidates receive marketing approval and we or others later identify undesirable side
effects caused by the product:

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product, or we or our partners may decide to cease
marketing and sale of the product voluntarily;
we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional clinical trials or preclinical
studies regarding the product, change the labeling of the product, or change the product’s manufacturing facilities; and
our reputation may suffer.
Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product and
could substantially increase the costs and expenses of commercializing the product, which in turn could delay or
prevent us from generating significant revenues from the sale of the product.

Our efforts to discover drug candidates beyond our current drug candidates may not succeed, and any drug candidates
we recommend for clinical development may not actually begin clinical trials.

We intend to use our technology, including our licensed technology, knowledge and expertise to develop novel drugs
to address some of the world’s most widespread and costly chronic diseases. We intend to expand our existing pipeline
of core assets by advancing drug compounds from current ongoing discovery programs into clinical development.
However, the process of researching and discovering drug compounds is expensive, time-consuming and
unpredictable. Data from our current preclinical programs may not support the clinical development of our lead
compounds or other compounds from these programs, and we may not identify any additional drug compounds
suitable for recommendation for clinical development. Moreover, any drug compounds we recommend for clinical
development may not demonstrate, through preclinical studies, indications of safety and potential efficacy that would
support advancement into clinical trials. Such findings would potentially impede our ability to maintain or expand our
clinical development pipeline. Our ability to identify new drug compounds and advance them into clinical
development also depends upon our ability to fund our research and development operations, and we cannot be certain
that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could result in increased costs to us and delay our ability
to establish strategic collaborations.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could significantly impact our drug development costs.
We do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The
commencement of clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including, but not limited to, delays related
to:

obtaining regulatory approval to commence one or more clinical trials;

reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective third-party contract research organizations, or CROs, and
clinical trial sites;

manufacturing sufficient quantities of a drug candidate or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials;
obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct one or more clinical trials at a prospective site;
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recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in one or more clinical trials; and
the failure of our collaborators to adequately resource our drug candidates due to their focus on other programs or as
a result of general market conditions.
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In addition, once a clinical trial has begun, it may be suspended or terminated by us, our collaborators, the institutional
review boards or data safety monitoring boards charged with overseeing our clinical trials, the FDA, EMA or
comparable foreign authorities due to a number of factors, including:

failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or clinical protocols;

tnspection of the clinical trial operations or clinical trial site by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities

resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold;

unforeseen safety issues; or

{ack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.
If we experience delays in the completion or termination of any clinical trial of our product candidates, the
commercial prospects of our product candidates will be harmed, and our ability to commence product sales and
generate product revenues from any of our product candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing
our clinical trials will increase our costs and slow down our product candidate development and approval process.
Delays in completing our clinical trials could also allow our competitors to obtain marketing approval before we do or
shorten the patent protection period during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product
candidates. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly. In
addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may
also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates.

Results of earlier clinical trials may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials.

The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of product candidates may not be predictive of the results of
later-stage clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials may fail to show the desired safety and
efficacy results despite having progressed through preclinical studies and initial clinical trials. Many companies in the
biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to adverse safety profiles
or lack of efficacy, notwithstanding promising results in earlier studies. Similarly, our future clinical trial results may
not be successful for these or other reasons.

This drug candidate development risk is heightened by any changes in the planned clinical trials compared to the
completed clinical trials. As product candidates are developed through preclinical to early to late stage clinical trials
towards approval and commercialization, it is customary that various aspects of the development program, such as
manufacturing and methods of administration, are altered along the way in an effort to optimize processes and results.
While these types of changes are common and are intended to optimize the product candidates for late stage clinical
trials, approval and commercialization, such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended
objectives.

Any of these changes could make the results of our planned clinical trials or other future clinical trials we may initiate
less predictable and could cause our product candidates to perform differently, including causing toxicities, which
could delay completion of our clinical trials, delay approval of our product candidates, and/or jeopardize our ability to
commence product sales and generate revenues.

If we experience delays in the enrollment of patients in our clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory
approvals could be delayed or prevented.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and
enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA or other regulatory
authorities. Patient enrollment, a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials, is affected by many factors,
including the size and nature of the patient population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the eligibility criteria
for the trial, the design of the clinical trial, competing clinical trials and clinicians’ and patients’ perceptions as to the
potential advantages of the drug being studied in relation to other available therapies, including any new drugs that
may be approved for the indications we are investigating.
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If we fail to enroll and maintain the number of patients for which the clinical trial was designed, the statistical power
of that clinical trial may be reduced, which would make it harder to demonstrate that the product candidate being
tested in such clinical trial is safe and effective. Additionally, enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in
increased development costs for our product candidates, which would cause the value of our company to decline and
limit our ability to obtain additional financing. Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients for any of our
current or future clinical trials would result in significant delays or may require us to abandon one or more clinical
trials altogether.
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We intend to rely on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies and clinical trials and perform other tasks for us. If
these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines, or comply with
regulatory requirements, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug candidates
and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be substantially harmed.

We have relied upon and plan to continue to rely upon third-party CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators
and contract laboratories to monitor and manage data for our licensed ongoing preclinical and clinical programs.
Nevertheless, we maintain responsibility for ensuring that each of our clinical trials and preclinical studies is
conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal, regulatory, and scientific standards and our reliance on
these third parties does not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. We and our CROs and other vendors are
required to comply with current requirements on good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, good clinical practices, or
GCP, and good laboratory practice, or GLP, which are a collection of laws and regulations enforced by the FDA,
EMA or comparable foreign authorities for all of our drug candidates in clinical development. Regulatory authorities
enforce these regulations through periodic inspections of preclinical study and clinical trial sponsors, principal
investigators, preclinical study and clinical trial sites, and other contractors. If we or any of our CROs or vendors fails
to comply with applicable regulations, the data generated in our preclinical studies and clinical trials may be deemed
unreliable and the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may require us to perform additional preclinical
studies and clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by
a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials comply with GCP
regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with products produced consistent with cGMP
regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay
the development and regulatory approval processes.

If any of our relationships with these third-party CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators or contract
laboratories terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative CROs on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. In addition, our CROs are not our employees, and except for remedies available to us under
our agreements with such CROs, we cannot control whether or not they devote sufficient time and resources to our
ongoing preclinical and clinical programs. If CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations
or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is
compromised due to the failure to adhere to our protocols, regulatory requirements, or for other reasons, our clinical
trials may be extended, delayed or terminated and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully
commercialize our drug candidates. CROs may also generate higher costs than anticipated. As a result, our business,
financial condition and results of operations and the commercial prospects for our drug candidates could be materially
and adversely affected, our costs could increase, and our ability to generate revenue could be delayed.

Switching or adding additional CROs, medical institutions, clinical investigators or contract laboratories involves
additional cost and requires management time and focus. In addition, there is a natural transition period when a new
CRO commences work replacing a previous CRO. As a result, delays occur, which can materially impact our ability
to meet our desired clinical development timelines. Though we carefully manage our relationships with our CROs,
there can be no assurance that we will not encounter similar challenges or delays in the future or that these delays or
challenges will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulation under the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities,
which can be costly and time consuming, cause unanticipated delays or prevent the receipt of the required approvals to
commercialize our drug candidates.

The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, export, marketing
and distribution of our drug candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other U.S. regulatory
agencies, EMA or comparable authorities in foreign markets. In the U.S., neither we nor our collaborators are
permitted to market our drug candidates until we or our collaborators receive approval of a new drug application, or an
NDA, from the FDA or receive similar approvals abroad. The process of obtaining these approvals is expensive, often
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takes many years, and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the drug candidates
involved. Approval policies or regulations may change and may be influenced by the results of other similar or
competitive products, making it more difficult for us to achieve such approval in a timely manner or at all. For
example, the FDA has released draft guidance regarding clinical trials for drug candidates treating diabetes that may
result in more stringent requirements for the clinical trials and regulatory approval of such drug candidates. This and
any future guidance that may result from recent FDA advisory panel discussions may make it more expensive to
develop and commercialize such drug candidates. Such increased expense could make it more difficult to obtain
favorable terms in the collaborative arrangements we require to maximize the value of our programs seeking to
develop new drug candidates for diabetes. In addition, as a company, we have not previously filed NDAs with the
FDA or filed similar applications with other foreign regulatory agencies. This lack of experience may impede our
ability to obtain FDA or other foreign regulatory agency approval in a timely manner, if at all, for our drug candidates
for which development and commercialization is our responsibility.
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Despite the time and expense invested, regulatory approval is never guaranteed. The FDA, EMA or comparable
foreign authorities can delay, limit or deny approval of a drug candidate for many reasons, including:

e drug candidate may not be deemed safe or effective;

agency officials of the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may not find the data from non-clinical or

preclinical studies and clinical trials generated during development to be sufficient;

the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may not approve our third-party manufacturers’ processes or

facilities; or

the FDA, EMA or a comparable foreign authority may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations.
Our inability to obtain these approvals would prevent us from commercializing our drug candidates.

Even if our drug candidates receive regulatory approval in the U.S., we may never receive approval or commercialize
our products outside of the U.S.

In order to market any products outside of the U.S., we must establish and comply with numerous and varying
regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures vary among countries
and can involve additional product testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain
approval in other countries might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process
in other countries may include all of the risks detailed above regarding FDA approval in the U.S. as well as other
risks. Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in
obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in others. Failure to
obtain regulatory approval in other countries or any delay seeking or obtaining such approval would impair our ability
to develop foreign markets for our drug candidates.

Even if any of our drug candidates receive regulatory approval, our drug candidates may still face future development
and regulatory difficulties.

If any of our drug candidates receive regulatory approval, the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities may still
impose significant restrictions on the indicated uses or marketing of the drug candidates or impose ongoing
requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies and trials. In addition, regulatory agencies subject a product,
its manufacturer and the manufacturer’s facilities to continual review and periodic inspections. If a regulatory agency
discovers previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose
restrictions on that product, our collaborators or us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market.
Our drug candidates will also be subject to ongoing FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities’ requirements for
the labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, record-keeping and submission of safety and other
post-market information on the drug. If our drug candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a
regulatory agency may:

tssue warning letters or other notices of possible violations;
tmpose civil or criminal penalties or fines or seek disgorgement of revenue or profits;
suspend any ongoing clinical trials;
refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our collaborators;
withdraw any regulatory approvals;
tmpose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements, or shut down our manufacturing
operations; or
seize or detain products or require a product recall.
The FDA, EMA and comparable foreign authorities actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the
promotion of off-label uses.
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The FDA, EMA and comparable foreign authorities strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about
prescription products, such as our drug candidates, if approved. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses
that are not approved by the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities as reflected in the product’s approved
labeling. If we receive marketing approval for our drug candidates for our proposed indications, physicians may
nevertheless use our products for their patients in a manner that is inconsistent with the approved label, if the
physicians personally believe in their professional medical judgment that our products could be used in such manner.
However, if we are found to have promoted our products for any off-label uses, the federal government
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could levy civil, criminal or administrative penalties, and seek fines against us. Such enforcement has become more
common in the industry. The FDA, EMA or comparable foreign authorities could also request that we enter into a
consent decree or a corporate integrity agreement or seek a permanent injunction against us under which specified
promotional conduct is monitored, changed or curtailed. If we cannot successfully manage the promotion of our drug
candidates, if approved, we could become subject to significant liability, which would materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

*If our competitors have drug candidates that are approved faster, marketed more effectively, are better tolerated, have
a more favorable safety profile or are demonstrated to be more effective than ours, our commercial opportunity may
be reduced or eliminated.

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. While we believe that our technology, knowledge, experience and scientific
resources provide us with competitive advantages, we face potential competition from many different sources,
including commercial biopharmaceutical enterprises, academic institutions, government agencies and private and
public research institutions. Any drug candidates that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with
existing therapies and new therapies that may become available in the future.

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development,
manufacturing, preclinical studies, clinical trials, regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do.
Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative
arrangements with large and established companies. Our competitors may succeed in developing technologies and
therapies that are more effective, better tolerated or less costly than any which we are developing, or that would render
our drug candidates obsolete and noncompetitive. Even if we obtain regulatory approval for any of our drug
candidates, our competitors may succeed in obtaining regulatory approvals for their products earlier than we do. We
will also face competition from these third parties in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management
personnel, in establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, and in acquiring and in-licensing
technologies and products complementary to our programs or advantageous to our business.

The key competitive factors affecting the success of each of our drug candidates, if approved, are likely to be its
efficacy, safety, tolerability, frequency and route of administration, convenience and price, the level of branded and
generic competition and the availability of coverage and reimbursement from government and other third-party
payors.

VK5211

In the U.S., there are currently no marketed therapies for the maintenance or improvement of lean body mass, bone
mineral density or physical function in patients recovering from non-elective hip fracture surgery. However, VK5211,
if approved, will face competition from several experimental therapies that are in various stages of development for
acute rehabilitation following hip fracture surgery, including programs in development at Novartis AG and Morphosys
AG. There are also several experimental therapies that are in various stages of clinical development for conditions
characterized by muscle wasting by companies including Helsinn Group, F. Hoffman — La Roche and Eli Lilly and
Company. In addition, nutritional and growth hormone-based therapies are sometimes used in patients experiencing
muscle wasting.

VK2809

While no therapies are currently approved for the treatment of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, we are aware of
numerous development-stage programs targeting this disease, including obeticholic acid from Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., elafibranor from Genfit SA, selonsertib, GS-0976 and GS-9674 from Gilead Sciences, Inc.,
cenicriviroc from Allergan plc (via acquisition of Tobira Therapeutics, Inc.), aramchol from Galmed Pharmaceuticals
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Ltd., GR-MD-02 from Galectin Therapeutics Inc., emricasan from Conatus Pharmaceuticals Inc., tropifexor from
Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, MSDC-0602K from Cirius Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly Octeta Therapeutics,
LLC), BMS-986036 from Bristol-Myers Squibb, NGM282 from NGM Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., IMM-124E from
Immuron Ltd., and MGL-3196 from Madrigal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. In addition, we are aware of active programs at
Enanta Pharmaceuticals, Novo Nordisk A/S, Inventiva S.A., Sanofi, Shire plc, Pfizer Inc., Boehringer Ingelheim
International GmbH, Nitto Denko Corporation, Inc., Durect Corporation, NuSirt Biopharma, Inc., MiNA
Therapeutics, Dicerna Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and AstraZeneca plc.

There are many therapies currently available and numerous others being developed for the treatment of
hypercholesterolemia and dyslipidemia. If approved, VK2809 will face competition from therapies that are currently
available and from therapies that may become available in the future. Generic statin therapies such as atorvastatin are
widely prescribed for the initial treatment of hypercholesterolemia. Cholesterol absorption inhibitors such as Merck &
Co., Inc.’s Zetia (ezetimibe), generic bile acid sequestrants such as coleselevam and generic fibrates such as fenofibrate
are also prescribed for the treatment of hypercholesterolemia. Various
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combinations of these therapies are often prescribed for patients suffering from dyslipidemia. In addition,
recently-approved antibody therapies targeting the proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9, or PCSK9, gene are
expected to be prescribed for patients whose LDL remains elevated despite treatment with existing
cholesterol-lowering agents.

In the U.S., there are currently no marketed pharmacologic therapies for the treatment of Glycogen Storage Disease
type Ia, or GSD Ia. We are aware of one competitor, Ultragenyx Pharmaceutical Inc., which initiated a Phase 1/2
study in July 2018 utilizing a gene therapy approach with DTX401.

VKO0214

In the U.S., there are currently no marketed therapies for the treatment of X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy, or X-ALD.
Hematopoietic stem cell therapy has been used to treat the most severe form of X-ALD, cerebral
adrenoleukodystrophy, or CALD. More recently, gene therapy has been shown to be effective in CALD as well.
However, both treatments are invasive, requiring surgical intervention, and these do not appear to have an effect on
the most pervasive form of X-ALD, adrenomyeloneuropathy, or AMN. High-dose biotin is under investigation for the
treatment of AMN. There are several experimental therapies that are in various stages of clinical development for
X-ALD by companies, including Vertex Pharmaceuticals, Inc., MedDay Pharmaceuticals SAS, Minoryx Therapeutics
S.L. bluebird bio, Inc., Orpheris, Inc., Magenta Therapeutics, Inc. and NeuroVia, Inc., which may be competitive with
VKO0214, if approved.

We, or any future collaborators, may not be able to obtain orphan drug designation or orphan drug exclusivity for our
product candidates.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States and Europe, may designate drugs for
relatively small patient populations as orphan drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a product as
an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally defined as a patient
population of fewer than 200,000 individuals annually in the United States. While we received orphan drug
designation from the FDA for VK0214 for the treatment X-ALD in December 2016 and plan to seek orphan drug
designation from the FDA for VK2809 for the treatment of GSD Ia, we, or any future collaborators, may not be
granted orphan drug designations for our product candidates in the U.S. or in other jurisdictions.

Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain orphan drug designation for a product candidate, we, or they, may not
be able to obtain orphan drug exclusivity for that product candidate. Generally, a product with orphan drug
designation only becomes entitled to orphan drug exclusivity if it receives the first marketing approval for the
indication for which it has such designation, in which case the FDA or the EMA will be precluded from approving
another marketing application for the same drug for that indication for the applicable exclusivity period. The
applicable exclusivity period is seven years in the United States and ten years in Europe. The European exclusivity
period can be reduced to six years if a drug no longer meets the criteria for orphan drug designation or if the drug is
sufficiently profitable so that market exclusivity is no longer justified. Orphan drug exclusivity may be lost if the FDA
or the EMA determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to
assure sufficient quantity of the drug to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition.

Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not
effectively protect the product from competition because FDA has taken the position that, under certain
circumstances, another drug with the same active moiety can be approved for the same condition. Specifically, the
FDA’s regulations provide that it can approve another drug with the same active moiety for the same condition if the
FDA concludes that the later drug is clinically superior in that it is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major
contribution to patient care.
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We are subject to a multitude of manufacturing risks, any of which could substantially increase our costs and limit
supply of our drug candidates.

The process of manufacturing our drug candidates is complex, highly regulated, and subject to several risks. For
example, the process of manufacturing our drug candidates is extremely susceptible to product loss due to
contamination, equipment failure or improper installation or operation of equipment, or vendor or operator error. Even
minor deviations from normal manufacturing processes for any of our drug candidates could result in reduced
production yields, product defects, and other supply disruptions. If microbial, viral, or other contaminations are
discovered in our drug candidates or in the manufacturing facilities in which our drug candidates are made, such
manufacturing facilities may need to be closed for an extended period of time to investigate and remedy the
contamination. In addition, the manufacturing facilities in which our drug candidates are made could be adversely
affected by equipment failures, labor shortages, natural disasters, power failures and numerous other factors.

38

78



Edgar Filing: Viking Therapeutics, Inc. - Form 10-Q

In addition, any adverse developments affecting manufacturing operations for our drug candidates may result in
shipment delays, inventory shortages, lot failures, withdrawals or recalls, or other interruptions in the supply of our
drug candidates. We also may need to take inventory write-offs and incur other charges and expenses for drug
candidates that fail to meet specifications, undertake costly remediation efforts, or seek costlier manufacturing
alternatives.

We rely completely on third parties to manufacture our preclinical and clinical drug supplies, and our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be harmed if those third parties fail to provide us with sufficient
quantities of drug product, or fail to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices.

We do not currently have, nor do we plan to acquire, the infrastructure or capability internally to manufacture our
preclinical and clinical drug supplies for use in our clinical trials, and we lack the resources and the capability to
manufacture any of our drug candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. We rely on our manufacturers to purchase
from third-party suppliers the materials necessary to produce our drug candidates for our clinical trials. There are a
limited number of suppliers for raw materials that we use to manufacture our drugs, and there may be a need to
identify alternate suppliers to prevent a possible disruption of the manufacture of the materials necessary to produce
our drug candidates for our clinical trials, and, if approved, ultimately for commercial sale. We do not have any
control over the process or timing of the acquisition of these raw materials by our manufacturers. Although we
generally do not begin a clinical trial unless we believe we have a sufficient supply of a drug candidate to complete
such clinical trial, any significant delay or discontinuity in the supply of a drug candidate, or the raw material
components thereof, for an ongoing clinical trial due to the need to replace a third-party manufacturer could
considerably delay completion of our clinical trials, product testing and potential regulatory approval of our drug
candidates, which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We and our contract manufacturers are subject to significant regulation with respect to manufacturing our drug
candidates. The manufacturing facilities on which we rely may not continue to meet regulatory requirements.

All entities involved in the preparation of therapeutics for clinical trials or commercial sale, including our existing
contract manufacturers for our drug candidates, are subject to extensive regulation. Components of a finished
therapeutic product approved for commercial sale or used in late-stage clinical trials must be manufactured in
accordance with cGMP. These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures and the implementation
and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of investigational products and products approved
for sale. Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of contaminants or to inadvertent changes in
the properties or stability of our drug candidates that may not be detectable in final product testing. We or our contract
manufacturers must supply all necessary documentation in support of an NDA or marketing authorization application,
or MAA, on a timely basis and must adhere to GLP and cGMP regulations enforced by the FDA, EMA or comparable
foreign authorities through their facilities inspection program. Some of our contract manufacturers may not have
produced a commercially approved pharmaceutical product and therefore may not have obtained the requisite
regulatory authority approvals to do so. The facilities and quality systems of some or all of our third-party contractors
must pass a pre-approval inspection for compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition of regulatory
approval of our drug candidates or any of our other potential products. In addition, the regulatory authorities may, at
any time, audit or inspect a manufacturing facility involved with the preparation of our drug candidates or any of our
other potential products or the associated quality systems for compliance with the regulations applicable to the
activities being conducted. Although we oversee the contract manufacturers, we cannot control the manufacturing
process of, and are completely dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with the regulatory
requirements. If these facilities do not pass a pre-approval plant inspection, regulatory approval of the products may
not be granted or may be substantially delayed until any violations are corrected to the satisfaction of the regulatory
authority, if ever.

The regulatory authorities also may, at any time following approval of a product for sale, audit the manufacturing
facilities of our third-party contractors. If any such inspection or audit identifies a failure to comply with applicable
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regulations or if a violation of our product specifications or applicable regulations occurs independent of such an
inspection or audit, we or the relevant regulatory authority may require remedial measures that may be costly or time
consuming for us or a third party to implement, and that may include the temporary or permanent suspension of a
clinical trial or commercial sales or the temporary or permanent closure of a facility. Any such remedial measures
imposed upon us or third parties with whom we contract could materially harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

If we or any of our third-party manufacturers fail to maintain regulatory compliance, the FDA, EMA or comparable
foreign authorities can impose regulatory sanctions including, among other things, refusal to approve a pending
application for a drug candidate, withdrawal of an approval, or suspension of production. As a result, our business,
financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Additionally, if supply from one manufacturer is interrupted, an alternative manufacturer would need to be qualified
through an NDA supplement or MAA variation, or equivalent foreign regulatory filing, which could result in further
delay. The regulatory agencies may also require additional studies or trials if a new manufacturer is relied upon for
commercial production. Switching manufacturers may involve substantial costs and is likely to result in a delay in our
desired clinical and commercial timelines.

39
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These factors could cause us to incur higher costs and could cause the delay or termination of clinical trials, regulatory
submissions, required approvals, or commercialization of our drug candidates. Furthermore, if our suppliers fail to
meet contractual requirements and we are unable to secure one or more replacement suppliers capable of production at
a substantially equivalent cost, our clinical trials may be delayed, or we could lose potential revenue.

Any collaboration arrangement that we may enter into in the future may not be successful, which could adversely
affect our ability to develop and commercialize our current and potential future drug candidates.

We may seek collaboration arrangements with biopharmaceutical companies for the development or
commercialization of our current and potential future drug candidates. To the extent that we decide to enter into
collaboration agreements, we will face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Moreover,
collaboration arrangements are complex and time consuming to negotiate, execute and implement. We may not be
successful in our efforts to establish and implement collaborations or other alternative arrangements should we choose
to enter into such arrangements, and the terms of the arrangements may not be favorable to us. If and when we
collaborate with a third party for development and commercialization of a drug candidate, we can expect to relinquish
some or all of the control over the future success of that drug candidate to the third party. The success of our
collaboration arrangements will depend heavily on the efforts and activities of our collaborators. Collaborators
generally have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these
collaborations.

Disagreements between parties to a collaboration arrangement can lead to delays in developing or commercializing
the applicable drug candidate and can be difficult to resolve in a mutually beneficial manner. In some cases,
collaborations with biopharmaceutical companies and other third parties are terminated or allowed to expire by the
other party. Any such termination or expiration would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If we are unable to develop our own commercial organization or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and
market our drug candidates, we may be unable to generate significant revenues.

We do not have a sales and marketing organization, and we have no experience as a company in the sales, marketing
and distribution of pharmaceutical products. If any of our drug candidates are approved for commercialization, we
may be required to develop our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, or make arrangements with a third party
to perform sales and marketing services. Developing a sales force for any resulting product or any product resulting
from any of our other drug candidates is expensive and time consuming and could delay any product launch. We may
be unable to establish and manage an effective sales force in a timely or cost-effective manner, if at all, and any sales
force we do establish may not be capable of generating sufficient demand for our drug candidates. To the extent that
we enter into arrangements with collaborators or other third parties to perform sales and marketing services, our
product revenues are likely to be lower than if we marketed and sold our drug candidates independently. If we are
unable to establish adequate sales and marketing capabilities, independently or with others, we may not be able to
generate significant revenues and may not become profitable.

The commercial success of our drug candidates depends upon their market acceptance among physicians, patients,
healthcare payors and the medical community.

Even if our drug candidates obtain regulatory approval, our products, if any, may not gain market acceptance among
physicians, patients, healthcare payors and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance of any of our
approved drug candidates will depend on a number of factors, including:

the effectiveness of our approved drug candidates as compared to currently available products;

patient willingness to adopt our approved drug candidates in place of current therapies;
our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy;
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relative convenience and ease of administration;
the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects;
restrictions on use i